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Opening submissions by MR ROBINS (conƟnued) 
MR ROBINS: My Lord, we were looking yesterday aŌernoon at the various communicaƟons between 
LCF and prospecƟve bondholders. We have looked now at the brochures, the informaƟon 
memoranda and various email communicaƟons, of which my Lord will recall there were various 
templates.   

There are two further categories of communicaƟon which my Lord will see in the course of this trial. 
The first is what are referred to as "chat" transcripts. In summary, there was a funcƟon set up by 
Surge's tech team on LCF's website by which members of the public could type in any quesƟons that 
they might have. QuesƟons were answered by Surge employees, who would take it in turn to be on 
duty manning the chats, as they put it at the Ɵme, and, by that means, a member of the public and a 
member of Surge's sales team could have a conversaƟon in wriƟng through the chat funcƟon. We 
see the first ever webchat at <D7D9-0002576>. This is on 6 January 2016. My Lord can see the form 
that they take. They were sent automaƟcally to Mr Careless, we can see that on the leŌ. At the top 
leŌ, he's responded to say:   

"First webchat!   

"Nice route to a lead. Well done tech team. "Great conversaƟon, well guided Jo."   

My Lord can see the conversaƟon immediately below. The visitor has asked whether the 3-year 
growth bond has a guaranteed 8 per cent and is a totally safe investment. Jo Baldock joined the chat. 
She said: "Good aŌernoon.   

"Yes the 3-year growth bond is as stated at a guaranteed rate of 8 per cent for the 3 years. Your full 
investment is protected up to 100 per cent with an asset backed scheme. The assets are managed by 
an independent security trustee who ensures that there is 100 per cent coverage for your funds at all 
Ɵmes." And asks if the visitor to the website would like to have a call. The visitor then asked:   

"So in other words I am guaranteed to get my original investment back plus the 8 per cent interest 
whatever happens?"   

Jo Baldock says, "Yes, that's correct", and then she gives her the contact details.   

So that's the webchat funcƟonality. We see various chats in disclosure. To take another example, 
<MDR00026162>. My Lord can see that, for some reason, this one has gone to Mr Russell-Murphy, 
not to Mr Careless. Jo Baldock answers in the middle of the page:   

"Yes your money is protected. I can confirm the London Capital & Finance are regulated by the FCA ... 
your bond funds are protected for their full value by our asset backed scheme and this is managed by 
an independent trustee to ensure that your funds are protected up to 100 per cent at all Ɵmes." The 
reference to an independent trustee is something that is oŌen repeated. For example, 
<MDR00026254>. This one goes to Mr Careless, who replied to say: "I'd say this was perfectly 
executed.   

"Well done Jo."   

What Jo Baldock has said to the visitor to the website is:   
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"Good aŌernoon and thank you for your enquiry today. Yes your money is safe, we are regulated by 
the FCA ... Your funds are protected by the FSCS up to the value of £50,000 whilst they are held with 
our secure custodian ..."   

I think that's a reference to GCEN:   

"... once your funds are lent out then your bond funds are protected for their full value by our asset 
backed scheme and this is managed by an independent trustee to ensure that your funds are 
protected up to 100 per cent at all Ɵmes. The bonds are secured by a debenture (a form of legal 
charge) over the assets of LC&F ... which is held by an independent trustee on behalf of bondholders. 
The secured assets include the cash reserves in the business and the security taken from the 
borrowing companies. The nominated security trustee is Global Security Trustees Limited." We see 
further examples. Let's go to <MDR00026340>. Jo Baldock says:   

"The bonds are very secure."   

It seems that the text is oŌen recycled. It seems to be copied and pasted from templates. But in the 
middle of the page, there is something new in this one. She says:   

"We are a commercial lender and our lending rates are higher than the high street banks due to the 
nature of the lending. It is because of the interest rates charged to our borrowers we are able to pass 
on the benefits to our investors."   

There is another -- let's have a look at <MDR00026344>. It is the same form. So it confirms the 
impression that text is being applied from templates. There is another in a different form at 
<MDR00026953>, where, aŌer the text that we have seen about the asset-backed scheme, and in 
the middle of the page a reference to being a commercial lender and offering short-term lending to 
SMEs at a premium rate, Jo Baldock says:   

"No your funds are not at risk, we offer a variety of lending packages and all monies lent are only 
aŌer a strict due diligence applicaƟon process and all lenders have to provide adequate security over 
which we take only a first legal charge. The assets we take the charge on [are] managed by an 
independent security trustee to ensure 100 per cent of your bond funds are protected at all Ɵmes."   

So, that's the first of the addiƟonal categories, my Lord, the chat transcripts.   

There are then call transcripts. These are transcripts of telephone conversaƟons between Surge 
employees and members of the public. They were recorded by Surge's telephone system and a 
selecƟon of them have been transcribed for the purpose of these proceedings. They are in I4 in the 
trial bundle.   

To take one by way of example, can we go to <I4/3.1>. This is the format they take. My Lord can see 
this is a transcript of a telephone conversaƟon between Neil Smith of Surge and a member of the 
public called S**** V*******, on 15 October 2016 at 10.01 am. My Lord can see, at the boƩom of 
the page, it is a digital transcripƟon by Marten Walsh Cherer Limited. On the next page, my Lord can 
see that Neil Smith introduces himself. The customer says, at D, that she's applied for the bond with 
a £5,000 deposit, and she says, at E, that she wants to ask some quesƟons. At F, just above F, she 
says:   

"... what sort of companies do you typically invest in?"   

Mr Smith says:   
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"So there is no parƟcular sector. They just have to beat -- well, not beat, but they have to come 
through a very strict lending criteria. So the companies have to be non-start-ups. They must have 
good credit history. They can't, you know, have a bad credit history. They must have, be asset rich. 
But they're all small to medium sized enterprises. So they're all companies that have got under 100 
personnel." Then at the boƩom of the page, at H, she says: "I mean predominantly, they are in the 
sort of construcƟon sector. But you know, they're not all in there. They just have to fit the lending 
criteria. Most of the companies, you know, they're coming to us for a short-term loan, anywhere 
from between a week and under 12 months and it's usually, you know, they've finished a job, they're 
waiƟng for the invoice to go through to get the cash flow to start another job. So a lot of them come 
to us and go, I don't know, 'I need £100,000 for a month or two, whilst we're waiƟng for funds to 
come in'. They've got the assets. "...   

"They've got the assets, like their factories and, you know, their offices, and things like that. But they 
just need the cash flow.   

"...   

"It's very difficult these days for them to get that from a bank without there being a longwinded 
process and then tying them up for, you know, over 12 months and wanƟng to charge them a lot of 
money. Whereas we're a quick, you know, a quick process, and that's why we charge higher rates."   

The customer asks:   

"Okay, and typically what's your success rate in, like, return on investment for people like me? 
"Operator: Okay, yes, so currently we've got a 100 per cent track record.   

"Customer: Oh wow, impressive.   

"Operator: We've never had a loan default and we have returned 100 per cent of all of our investors' 
full capital plus interest on the people that have invested in the bonds that have matured so far. 
We've only been going since July 2012, but we've got, you know, everyone that's invested and their 
bonds have come to maturity, they've all received their full capital plus interest back because of that 
strict lending criteria. We don't want to give out a bad loan. So, you know, the chances of these 
companies going bust or into liquidaƟon in the short period of Ɵme that they've got these loans, 
we'd say is very limited, is very minimal.   

"Customer: Okay.   

"Operator: So our success rate is second to none." I think there may be more to the same effect on 
the next page, if we could look at that. Between A and B, Mr Smith says:   

"So we don't use the Financial Services CompensaƟon Scheme which covers back deposits up to 
£75,000. But we're classed as an investment, so the actual coverage for investment is a bit more 
limited. So what we do is we have the asset-backed protecƟon. So in a nutshell, that is when a 
company wishes to borrow money from us, they must put up their assets as security against the loan 
that they take out.   

"...   

"What we do is we overcompensate and we never go above a 75 per cent loan to value. At the 
moment, we've got £25 million worth of loans out, but we've secured $60 million worth of those 
companies' assets. So because your investment is spread across all of the loans, as opposed to one 
parƟcular loan, because that's peer to peer and, you know, we consider that to be quite volaƟle, the 
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only way that there's going to be any exposure to your funds would be that a large proporƟon of the 
loans default at the same Ɵme, and obviously we've never had one yet, and assets of £60 million 
would need to depreciate to below the value of the loans going out of £25 million. So we'd argue, 
that's very slim, because that we're talking -- you know, the assets that we normally -- they can sign 
over, it can be anything. It can be stock, trucks, haulage, but most of it is land and property. So we're 
thinking, you know, if £60 million worth of land depreciates to £25 million, we're in a [doomsday] 
scenario.   

"...   

"It could happen. You know, we're regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. So I can't say to you 
'This is 100 per cent guaranteed', because it's an investment and there's an element of risk in any 
investment.   

"...   

"But what I can say to you is, we've got a 100 per cent track record and, you know, we're proud of 
that and want to keep it."   

MR JUSTICE MILES: The FCA authorisaƟon they had, you told me yesterday, was to do with credit; is 
that right?  

MR ROBINS: Credit broking, I believe.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: So, if they were -- what does that mean? If they were lending money to people 
to invest or --  

MR ROBINS: Authorised to act as a credit broker. I'm going to have to check what that means.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: But that's not to do with promoƟng investments?   

MR ROBINS: No. And one of the things that we see Ɵme and Ɵme again is that LCF sought to trade 
off the -- or Surge's salespeople sought to trade off the limited and irrelevant authorisaƟon that LCF 
had obtained, and the FCA got wind of it a number of Ɵmes, for example, by looking at LCF's website 
or by seeing the adverts that LCF had placed in the media, or Surge had placed on LCF's behalf, and 
the FCA would be very quick to write to say, "You can't trade off your regulated status. It is irrelevant 
to the bonds that you are issuing. They are unregulated investments. You mustn't menƟon your FCA 
authorisaƟon", so they had to be taken off. That -- we can provide my Lord with the details -- is a 
saga that was repeated a number of Ɵmes. I think I'm right in saying at least three Ɵmes. But we can 
give my Lord chapter and verse on that if that would be something my Lord would be interested in.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: I have noƟced that in all of these communicaƟons you have shown me -- I think 
all of them -- they have made the point that they were FCA regulated.   

MR ROBINS: Yes. And one can see why the FCA would have a problem with that. I'm not sure there is 
anything on the next page, but let's have a quick look at it, just to see. This is, I think, just further 
quesƟons. Let's look at another. <I4/5.1>. This is Neil Smith again and a member of the public, Mrs 
E******** A*******, 22 October 2016 at 2.25 in the aŌernoon. Let's look at the next page, please. 
She says in the middle of the page that she's downloaded something, presumably the informaƟon 
memorandum, to read it, and then says that she doesn't want all her eggs in one basket, she wants 
some real returns without leaving herself open too much in one place. Mr Smith says:   
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"I fully understand. Have you a minute and I'll just explain how we operate as a business?" She says 
that would be really useful. Mr Smith says:   

"Okay, fantasƟc. So we're not a bank or building society ... we are a corporate financier ... and what 
we do is we raise capital through investors like yourself ... and the way that we make our money is 
we make business loans with that fund to small to medium sized UK enterprises in the shape of 
short-term loans, typically charging those businesses anywhere between 12 and 20 per cent."   

And the customer says:   

"Right. It's a very high rate, isn't it, for businesses?"   

Mr Smith says yes. The customer says:   

"Is that the going rate for businesses because when you look at the base rates, you know, the Bank of 
England base rate, which is why we're all geƫng our piddly returns ... is very low but why is it so high 
for commercial businesses then?" Mr Smith says, "Fully valid quesƟon."   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Let me just read through, because it is probably quicker if I do.   

MR ROBINS: Sure.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MR ROBINS: Next page, please.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MR ROBINS: Next page, please.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Okay.   

MR ROBINS: Let's look at the next one. <I4/6.1>. This is the very next one in the bundle. It is not Neil 
Smith. This is Damien of Surge. Shall we proceed with my Lord reading it, rather than me reading it 
out?  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes. Okay.  

MR ROBINS: As I say, there are more that we could go through. They are in volume I4 of the trial 
bundle. But I think there's a law of diminishing returns, because they're all in the same, or 
substanƟally the same, terms, consistent with the other materials that we have seen. So, I'm not sure 
there's going to be a huge amount gained by going through further examples at this point.   

What I should, however, take my Lord to is the summary of the misrepresentaƟons that we have 
provided. We sought to extract and encapsulate various key representaƟons that were made by or 
on behalf of LCF. We sought to boil them down and to set them out in summary form.   

My Lord can see that at <B1/2>, page 2. In the re-re-amended parƟculars of claim. If we go to page 2, 
my Lord can see paragraph 7:   

"To induce members of the public to become bondholders, LCF represented that:   

"(1) Monies from bondholders would be lent by LCF to numerous unconnected small and medium 
sized enterprises in the United Kingdom (or, from around August 2017, UK businesses) in arm's-
length transacƟons. "(2) Before agreeing to make any loan to any prospecƟve borrower, LCF 
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conducted the due diligence to saƟsfy itself that the borrower would be able to pay interest on the 
loan and to repay the principal amount of the loan on maturity.   

"(3) LCF generated income to cover its overheads and to pay interest on the bonds by charging 
borrowers a one-off fee equal to 2 per cent of the amount of the loan and interest in the region of 10 
per cent per annum on the amount of loan unƟl maturity.  

"(4) LCF only lent monies to credit-worthy borrowers which were established small and medium sized 
enterprises (or, from August 2017, UK businesses) with a strong payment covenant.   

"(5) No monies were (nor ever would be) advanced to any borrower before the execuƟon of a legally 
binding loan agreement between LCF and the borrower.  

"(6) Every prior loan had been (and every future loan would be) fully secured by debentures and 
other security agreements in favour of LCF over assets of the borrower with a value materially in 
excess of the amount of the loan.   

"(7) Bondholders' interests would be protected by an independent security trustee which had no 
connecƟon with LCF or any of its borrowers.   

"(8) An investment by bondholders in bonds was a secure investment which was capable of 
generaƟng high returns, oŌen in the region of 8 per cent per annum or higher."   

We set out on page 23 why we said these representaƟons were false. In paragraph 21, subparagraph 
(1), we said:   

"LCF did not lend any bondholder monies to any unconnected small or medium sized enterprises or 
businesses in the United Kingdom in arm's-length transacƟons. Instead, LCF lent bondholder monies 
to the LCF connected companies, including LOG and LOG lent bondholder monies to the LOG 
connected companies. As pleaded above, the only genuine commercial transacƟons at arm's-length 
were the AtlanƟc Petroleum loan ... and the IOG loan.   

"(2) LCF did not conduct any due diligence on the LCF connected companies ... and was not 
concerned with whether those borrowers would be able to pay interest on the loan or repay the 
principle amount of the loan on maturity because the loans ... were not commercial transacƟons but 
were put in place to create a facade of legiƟmate business acƟviƟes in order to conceal the fact that 
LCF's business was being carried on with intend to defraud bondholders.   

"(3) Charges by LCF to borrowers did not consist of a one-off fee equal to 2 per cent ... with interest 
in the region of 10 per cent ... instead borrowers were required to fund the payment of 25 per cent 
of all bondholder monies to Surge purportedly by way of commission by adding that payment to the 
total amount of their loans. This was equivalent to an upfront arrangement fee equal to one-third of 
the net amount of the loan.   

"(4) LCF did not lend monies to credit-worthy borrowers which were established small and medium 
sized enterprises ... with a strong payment covenant. Instead, LCF lent bondholder monies to the LCF 
connected companies and LOG lent ... monies ... to the LOG connected companies ... [which] 
included many companies which were not established businesses but were only very recently 
incorporated and/or which were dormant or otherwise non-trading ...   

"(5) ..."   

We have menƟoned the advance of monies before the execuƟon of loan agreements:   
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"(6) Loans were not fully secured ... there was no or insufficient security for the loans ... frequently it 
has transpired that borrower companies are insolvent ...  

"(7) The security trustee, GST, was not independent but was owned and/or controlled by Mr 
Sedgwick and/or Mr Thomson and was thereby connected with LCF and the LCF borrowers. Further, 
GST did not carry out any duƟes as a security trustee and its role and involvement were purely 
nominal.   

"(8) An investment by bondholders in bonds was not a secure investment and was not capable of 
generaƟng the promised returns. LCF defrauded the bondholders by paying at least 57.41 per cent of 
all bondholder monies to the first to tenth defendants ..."   

My Lord, at a very early stage of the proceedings, we received quesƟons about our formulaƟon of 
the representaƟons. We were asked, for example, where did LCF say "numerous", where did LCF say 
"unconnected", and so we explained our process, our thinking, in terms of formulaƟng the summary 
of the representaƟons we had provided. That's at <B4/2>, page 5. It will be familiar on the basis of 
points I have made as we have gone through. At (i):   

"LCF did not use the word 'numerous' ... that is the claimants' paraphrasing of LCF's descripƟon of its 
business model ... which included representaƟons that: "(a) the pool of potenƟal borrowers 
consisted of millions of UK-based SMEs which had been starved of credit faciliƟes and which gave 
rise to many opportuniƟes for LCF to lend;   

"(b) LCF was an expanding commercial lender that was seeking to support UK-based SMEs with the 
provision of credit;   

"(c) LCF was ready to expand its operaƟons by issuing more bonds in order to raise addiƟonal finance 
thereby enabling it to increase the number and value of loans it made to the SME sector;   

"(d) LCF was aiming to conƟnue to grow to a profitable commercial loan business which could meet 
the increasing demand of successful, but cash-starved, UK businesses.   

"(ii) LCF did not use the word 'unconnected' ... that is the claimants' paraphrasing of LCF's descripƟon 
... including representaƟons that:   

"(a) LCF's borrowers would be SMEs from the UK business community and/or the SME sector; "(b) 
LCF's directors used their contacts among numerous professionals in the financial, accounƟng and 
legal professions to source addiƟonal lending opportuniƟes and/or LCF would be hunƟng for 
potenƟal borrowers (implying that it was not yet aware of them), eg that LCF would 'seek to idenƟfy 
opportuniƟes in structured finance within the UK SME sector in order to meet the significant lending 
demand from the SME sector' and/or that LCF was involved in the 'sourcing' of borrowers and/or 
'opportuniƟes to lend' from a 'network of industry contacts/brokers'.   

"(c) LCF's brokers assessed potenƟal borrowers against LCF's lending criteria before referring them to 
LCF (again implying that LCF was not previously aware of such potenƟal borrowers and would only be 
interested in knowing about them if they saƟsfied the lending criteria).   

"(iii) LCF did not use the phrase 'arm's length transacƟons' ... that is the claimants' paraphrasing of 
LCF's descripƟon ... and the representaƟons that: "(a) LCF was a 'commercial lender' which was 
lending to SMEs from the UK business community and the SME sector;   

"(b) LCF made loans to SMEs on 'commercially compeƟƟve terms'.   
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"(2) The representaƟon ... about LCF conducƟng due diligence ... was [set out] in the IMs and 
brochures ... More parƟcularly, LCF represented ... that ..." And we gave quotes, like the reference to 
conducƟng "upfront and ongoing due diligence", "pre-lending due diligence", "full due diligence prior 
to lending", "full financial review of every applicaƟon", et cetera. Over the page [page 7], please, 
more in (iii) and (iv). And then (3). The representaƟon about generaƟng income was something from 
the informaƟon memoranda, and we summarised what those documents said. Then (4): "The 
representaƟon ... that LCF only lent monies to creditworthy borrowers ..."   

That was something in the informaƟon memoranda and brochures, and we gave the quotes in 
respect of that. Over the page [page 8], (5):   

"The representaƟon ... that no monies were ever ... advanced ... before the execuƟon of a legally 
binding loan agreement was [set out] in IMs and brochures." Then (6):   

"The representaƟon ... that every prior loan had been (and every future loan would be) fully secured 
..." Again, something set out in the IMs and brochures. We gave examples. And then over, on the 
next page [page 9], (7), the representaƟon about independent security trustee was something set 
out in the IMs and brochures to explain the point.   

Then (8), the representaƟon that an investment was secure, or a secure investment capable of 
generaƟng high returns, was, again, something, if we turn over the page, we see we explained was 
set out in the informaƟon memoranda and the brochures, and we gave quotes to explain all of that.   

So, we set out the basis for our summary. My Lord has seen, as we have gone through, numerous 
examples of those statements being made.   

I think it is worth menƟoning at this point that the claimants are not bringing a claim for 
misrepresentaƟon. The relevance of the misrepresentaƟons is in the context of the claimants' claims 
for fraudulent trading and breach of duty. Misdescribing your business to the public in order to raise 
funds is a form of fraudulent trading. That's the relevance of the pleaded misrepresentaƟons. So, I 
think, my Lord, that's as much as I need to say on that topic at this point. I can move to the next 
topic, which is the first of a series of topics dealing with the posiƟon of Mr Careless and Surge 
Financial Limited, the first of which relates to the commission paid by LCF to Surge Financial Limited.  

I should begin that by saying a few words about the invoicing arrangements. We think 
<MDR00003019> is the last invoice from Mr Russell-Murphy to LCF. It is dated 25 August 2015, in the 
sum of 25 per cent. My Lord saw previous invoices in the same form from Mr Russell-Murphy to LCF 
when it went by the name SAFE. This is, as I say, 25 August 2015.   

<MDR00016849> is an email from Jo Baldock on the next day, 26 August 2015, to Mr Thomson with 
the subject "M********", aƩaching an invoice, and the aƩachment is <MDR00003018>. My Lord can 
see it's an aƩachment in respect of a bondholder called Mr * M********. The invoice is from Surge 
Financial Limited, trading as Investment Experts Online. On the top right, "Terms: Payable 
Immediately". The date of the invoice is 26 August. The due date is also 26 August. It is addressed to 
LCF and it spells out that Mr M********'s investment amount was £60,000. It says commission 
claimed at 25 per cent, £15,000, the total balance due, therefore, is £15,000.   

So, this seems to be the first Surge invoice, the date, I say, being 26 August 2015.   

The way it worked throughout is that, as soon as the money from the bondholder arrived, iniƟally, as 
my Lord knows, the money arrived with Buss Murton, subsequently with GCEN, but, either way, as 
soon as the money arrived, Surge would send out the invoice. It would be payable immediately.   
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My Lord has seen some documents which suggest that LCF was a bit slow to pay commission invoices 
at the very beginning of the period. But, ulƟmately, LCF paid the Surge invoices very quickly, oŌen 
within 24 hours or so of receipt of the invoice.   

My Lord will also see that this is an invoice in respect of a single client. That was the format that was 
adopted at the beginning. Surge would render one invoice in respect of each client, claiming 
commission of 25 per cent of the client's investment. We can see some invoices, for example, dated 
7 September. <MDR00003013>. * E******, an investment of £50,000, commission of £12,500. This is 
7 September. <MDR00003014>. Again, the date is 7 September. This is Mrs * B********.   

<MDR00003016>. Again, the 7th. This is Mrs * E******.   

Then <MDR00003017>. Another invoice dated the 7th, this Ɵme in respect of Mr M*******. So, 
there would be one invoice per new bondholder. All the invoices on a parƟcular day would be 
gathered together and sent across to LCF, usually under cover of a single email. For example, 
<MDR00031020>. My Lord will see this is an email from Jo Baldock to KaƟe Maddock, copied to 
Steve Jones, with the subject "Invoices", and there are three invoices aƩached: one in respect of 
C**** D*****'s investment of £1.25 million. The total investment figure covered by the invoices is 
£1.31 million, 25 per cent of which is £327,500. To take an example, the D***** invoice aƩached to 
this email is <MDR00002851>. It is in the form that my Lord has seen, sƟll, at the top, "Surge 
Financial Limited trading as Investment Experts Online". With Surge ramping up the bond sales, a 
very large number of these individual invoices were issued. Surge would go through the invoicing 
process every few days, and the covering emails aƩach increasing numbers of invoices. We can take a 
few examples. <MDR00037083>. My Lord can see the date, 25 April 2016, from Jo Baldock to KaƟe 
Maddock, aƩaching a long list of invoices, the commission on all of them adding up to a liƩle over 
£42,000.   

<MDR00038536>, another example, to Anna Golding at LCF. We believe she may be Spencer 
Golding's daughter. My Lord can see a large number of invoices aƩached. At <MDR00040493> -- as I 
say, the number of aƩached invoices keeps on growing. At this point, a very large number aƩached. 
The total commission of almost £100,000.   

Then let's have a look at <MDR00043038>. Another email in similar terms, we are now to June 2016, 
with a long list of invoices aƩached.   

<MDR00047366>. A similar email aƩaching a large number of invoices. The total commission being 
just over £104,000.   

There is normally by this sort of point a gap of two or three days between the emails. SomeƟmes 
they seem to be sent once a week, but they are usually more frequent. As Ɵme goes by, the gap 
between the emails shrinks and the number of invoices aƩached to each email grows. We can see 
that from some further examples. Let's look at <MDR00049581>. This is 14 July 2016. My Lord can 
see the aƩachments. There is a huge number of invoices aƩached. If we look at the next page, we 
can see that the total amount of commission on these invoices is £212,725. Then <MDR00050765>. 
Another email with a very long list of aƩachments. <MDR00051449>. The same again, almost 
£100,000 in commission on a single email. <MDR00055415>. Again, a very lengthy list. If we could 
look at the second page, please, it conƟnues over, possibly, onto the third page, and the total 
commission is almost £167,000.   

Shortly aŌer this point, there is a move to what might be described as composite invoicing. Instead 
of having a single invoice claiming 25 per cent of each bondholder's investment, there is an invoice 
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that covers numerous bondholders. For example, <MDR00003865>, where we have a single invoice 
with a large number of investors. Let's have a look at the next page. My Lord can see the total 
amount of the investments is £223,000. 25 per cent of that is £55,750.   

With the increasing volume of bond sales, it gets to the point where Surge is sending out two 
invoices like this per day. There is one in respect of the bonds, the non-ISA bonds, and one in respect 
of the ISA bonds. We can see a typical bond invoice at <MDR00004649>. This is 8 December 2017, 
commission of over £44,000. This is the non-ISA bonds. It's headed "LCF Bond Investments BSR", so I 
think it's bondholders who came through the BSR route. The ISA bond invoice should be 
<MDR00004650>. This is an LCF ISA investment invoice. Over on the next page, we can see that the 
investment amount is £373,200. 25 per cent of that is £93,300. The date is the 8th. So, as I say, two 
on the same day. Those two are on the 8th. The next week, for example, there are two a day on the 
11th, two a day on the 12th, two a day on the 13th, two a day on the 14th, two a day on the 15th, 
and that paƩern conƟnues. Throughout 2016, 2017 and 2018. LCF is paying these invoices by making 
numerous, sƟll substanƟal, payments to Surge's bank account every day of the week.   

My Lord can get a flavour of that from schedule 2 to the neutral statement of uncontested facts at 
<A1/6/421>, which shows the posiƟon around the Ɵme of the invoices we were just looking at. 
Payments on the 5th, the 6th, the 8th, the 11th, the 12th, the 13th, the 14th. Over the page, please, 
we see payments on the 15th, the 18th, the 19th, the 20th, the 22nd. If we go through to the next 
year, page 425, we can see that the payments, I say, are made preƩy much every weekday in very 
substanƟal sums. Let's look at the next page, to see more of the same. As my Lord knows, the total 
amount paid to Surge over this period is in the region of £61 million.   

The next topic to address relates to the origin of the 25 per cent commission. We have seen that 
before, but I think we should go back to it in context. <SUR00001292-0001>. It is Mr Careless's email 
to Pat McCreesh and Phil Nunn, who are the two individuals behind Blackmore, dated 9 July 2015. 
Mr Careless says: "Right chaps, I'd like to give you a full update on where we are up to. I apologise in 
advance at the length of this email!"   

My Lord has seen that he sets out the posiƟon in respect of the sale of leads to Blackmore's pension 
operaƟon and he says, halfway down the page, "We can deliver 6,000 leads if they want to run 
weekends". Then he deals with Blackmore Estates and says: "Russell-Murphy (JRM for short!) is my 
new sales director. I have had to cut a very strong deal on my side to secure him ..."   

We will see what that is in a moment:   

"Having used our leads in March when he put £1 million into the SAFE product he can see the huge 
opportunity we have. His sales skills are second to none and he will be building us a sales team to 
deliver. He starts at 9 am tomorrow morning from my new offices." Then over the page, Mr Careless 
explains, in the middle of the page, that there are the two companies, InfoConnecƟon and Surge 
Financial Limited. He says: "InfoConnecƟon is entwined fully with you guys ..." And then, at the 
boƩom of the page, he says that they're doing nothing but invest safely. Over the page, he says that 
John is "super impressed and I like him a lot":   

"John has set up a deal with SAFE which will pay 25 per cent commissions. I intend to put IS live and 
deliver leads and have John and another sales guy who he wants to hire put £2 million into that bond 
in the first month. That is £500,000 in commissions to Surge Financial Limited over the next six 
weeks. I am currently eaƟng what I kill with you guys and this venture is simply a drive for me to ease 
my cash flow issues. I am acutely aware that owning a fund is far more profitable in the long run but 
such big commissions are appealing especially with a product John has already sold well using the 
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very same leads. I would welcome you running due diligence on that deal if you wanted as I know 
you'll be screaming 'RINSE'! It's not." My Lord can see the 25 per cent commission was something Mr 
Careless said had been set up by Mr Russell-Murphy. Mr Careless also explained the state of play in 
another email a few weeks later, <SUR00129198-0001>. On page 2, we see Mr Careless's email to 
Mark Partridge, who he describes in other documents as "a trusted friend and advisor". Mr Partridge 
is an accountant. Mr Careless says: "Mark.   

"Welcome back from your seventh holiday this year. "Here is an overview of what is happening in 
Carelessville.   

"Aska Professional Limited.   

"This company is not trading.   

"LiabiliƟes:   

"Me, a director's loan of £85k.   

"HMRC c£100k.   

"The following two companies in the next 12 months will make at least £5 million EBITDA.   

"InfoConnecƟons Limited.   

"Currently owned 100 per cent by Kerry Graham. "I hold an opƟon to take 90 per cent shareholding 
and board seat for £100 at any Ɵme [in] the next 5 years ...   

"This company is in a JV with a company called Blackmore Global (BG).   

"We co-own a number of websites, the main one being www.the-investment-experts ... (TIE)."   

Over the page, please. There is the screenshot of The Investment Experts' website we have seen 
before. Mr Careless conƟnues:   

"BG is owned by two guys aged 40, called Pat McCreesh and Phil Nunn. They are ex-City traders. BG 
is an alternaƟve investment fund which is two years old and has £24 million assets under 
management (AUM). It operates from the Isle of Man but has offices in Manchester with circa 30 
staff. BG takes people's pension funds and invests part of it in a mulƟ asset approach. Last year it's 
coupon was 8 per cent. I met BG by selling them pension leads ...   

"TIE produces cash investment leads. Around 70 each day. Each one has c£35k to invest. They look 
like this ..."   

And he sets out what the leads look like. It is an enquiry from Debbi Wright, saying:   

"I am looking to invest £100,000. What would you suggest?"   

And he says:   

"That is £100 million in cash leads looking for an investment each month. I have two offices now. My 
office in Hove at MariƟme House with six staff who produce the leads and a second office in 
Eastbourne (long story) who are the sales office." "Eastbourne office."   

There is a photo and a dimly lit room. We can't quite make out who is siƫng in it. He says: "The sales 
team is led by John Russell-Murphy (JRM) who is now a shareholder in both of my companies. We 
also have eight sales consultants who deal with the leads from Eastbourne. They earn 1 per cent 
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commission for funds they convert into one of our products. We are looking to have 20 guys in total. 
They work from a script.   

"Here is JRM."   

There is a photo of Mr Russell-Murphy. Mr Careless conƟnues:   

"I own 33 per cent stake in a property investment fund called Blackmore Estates (BE) ... Phil and Pat 
own the other 66 per cent between them. The deal is that we share the cost of the lead generaƟon 
50:50 and then I receive 7.5 per cent commissions of funds into BE. We are currently puƫng into this 
fund circa £3 million a month. We do that by offering the TIE clients a fixed rate property bond at 6.5 
per cent per annum/2 years or for 5 years with a deferred interest opƟon with a 5 per cent bonus. 
They receive a loan note [from] BE. "The cash is used to invest in a mix of social housing with Housing 
AssociaƟons as well as other property opportuniƟes that arise.   

"We track the sales using a CRM called Pipedrive; here is a snapshot ..."   

That's over on the next page [page 5]. Mr Careless says:   

"The target into BME is £5 million a month. "We are building a £100m AUM UK property fund within 
two years.   

"That is worth, if exited, pound for pound. A well managed UK property fund with £100m AUM 
would sell for £100m to a larger fund looking to increase their own AUM. Retail money is far more 
valuable than insƟtuƟonal for various reasons.   

"Surge Financial Limited.   

"Currently owned 100 per cent by Kerry Graham. "I hold an opƟon to take 90 per cent shareholding 
and board seat for £100 at any Ɵme in the next five years ...   

"This company operates a separate website called www.invest-safely ...   

"Again this site generates cash investments leads, around £50m a month. These also go to my sales 
team in Eastbourne, however they sell a different product with these leads as it is owned by me, JRM 
and Kerry. I am the major shareholder. They sell a 2 year bond (8 per cent per annum) called London 
Capital & Finance. It is an SME lending company that also provide mez and bridging finance. The site 
is here."   

He gives the link:   

"I earn 25 per cent commissions of money into that fund. I know, that's huge, right?   

"We have just started with this product but JRM has known the company for some Ɵme and we have 
conducted DD. The deal for 25 per cent is because we can shiŌ big funds. Our target between now 
and 1 September into LCF is £2m. That is comms, paid in real Ɵme of £500,000 into SF. We can do 
£3m+ a month once the guys are trained on the product.   

"That is the overview."   

And he asks for quesƟons, comments and queries. Mr Partridge replies on the next day, back on page 
1 of this document. He says:   

"Mmm ...   

"Where do I start?   
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"Difficult to see why anyone would invest in BG -- looking at their website. But it isn't my money. 
Have you seen a copy of their accounts as audited by GT? "Blackmore Estates is errored and [LCF's 
website] needs a password.   

"So you effecƟvely own TIE (InfoConnecƟons Limited) which provides leads to BE (which you own 33 
per cent) TIE gets 7.5 per cent commission on funds invested into BE which is used to pay 50 per cent 
of Eastbourne, all of Hove and your lifestyle. "Are Eastbourne sales team commission only? "What 
commission do the other guys get, Phil and Pat? Have you any evidence of their track record in social 
housing?   

"Also you effecƟvely own Surge Financial Limited which provides leads to Eastbourne which sell one 
product, an 8 per cent bond, SFL get 25 per cent of any bonds sold. What commission do your guys 
get? "As you say this commission is insane. On a flat rate the fund would have to grow by 55 per cent 
in two years to pay your commission and the interest. "Who are LCF, is this the aim stock?   

"You 'pay' me to be cynical but I can't see how these figures are sustainable."   

So that's the view of the trusted friend and advisor. But, as my Lord knows, Mr Careless proceeds to 
sell bonds for LCF and take the 25 per cent. The commission payable conƟnues to grow. We should 
have a look at <SUR00002362-0001>, where, at the boƩom of the page, Mr Jones, who is Mr 
Careless's finance director, sets out a summary of commissions that are on the way in from LCF, 
principally, there's one from MJS. It is a liƩle over £260,000 in total in bold on the right-hand side. On 
the leŌ, we can see Mr Careless asks:   

"So £260k of comms by the end of the month possible/likely?"   

And Mr Jones replies:   

"By the 2nd October yes, end of September - possibly. It is very finely balanced, but give or take a 
couple of days, bloody exciƟng!   

"Yep, there are sƟll plenty of deals being worked, including the 3 'big' deals JRM is working on." Mr 
Careless replies, copying in his friend Ronak Patel, who is a GP:   

"200k profit for one month."   

So, my Lord can see, if the commissions are £260,000 and the running costs are 60, that the profit is 
£200,000 a month:   

"Not including pensions or best savings advice. "Oh and we are embryonic.   

"Good to have your support buddy."   

On the same day, Mr Careless sends an update to Mr Partridge, <SUR00129449-0001>, where, if we 
look at the next page, he's forwarding the pipeline update provided to him by Mr Russell-Murphy. It 
provides for a combined total of over £1 million in the pipeline. On the previous page, where Mr 
Careless forwards that to Mr Partridge, he says:   

"Nine days of sales leŌ too. Plus I have pensions and best savings rates. Hello helicopter." It seems to 
be a reference to Mr Careless's longstanding ambiƟon to buy a helicopter, which we see menƟoned 
in other documents.   

<SUR00129510-0001>. KaƟe Maddock, at the boƩom of the page, has emailed Steve Jones to say 
that £170,000 would be released "today". That's commission payments. She apologises for the -- on 
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behalf of Buss Murton for the delay. This is when it was sƟll being run through Buss Murton's client 
account. Steve Jones forwards it to Mr Careless, saying:   

"That should be another £47,000 comms tomorrow!" I think it is £170,000 being released from Buss 
Murton to LCF. Then the commission is £47,000. Mr Careless forwards that to his father on the same 
day. <SUR00002843-0001>. We get another email which sheds light on the profit margin. Mr Careless 
emails Steve Jones with the subject "Thoughts", saying: "Just a few thoughts on our exposure.   

"The only fixed salaries not Ɵed to sales are going to be and will be only 6 people.   

"...   

"Payroll basic as a scrape: £30,000.   

"Our offices and fixed costs, say £10,000. "Pensions.   

"£1,000 minimum each for three folks, but they are already hiƫng £30,000 in revenues as a run rate 
in month 1."   

At the boƩom:   

"If JRM and the team just hit £500,000 a month, which would be disappoinƟng, we would be £100 in 
the profit.   

"The truth is, from November I will expect £1 million as an absolute minimum every month. "That's 
£200,000 profit."   

Mr Jones says at the top of the page:   

"Yep agreed in principle, however the reality is that your earnings are a minimum of £25,000 per 
month and these also need to be covered, so £65,000 per month min required ..."   

So he's saying that the overheads are higher than Mr Careless has envisaged, but there's, 
nevertheless, a high margin on the acƟviƟes.   

<SUR00131245-0001>. Mr Jones has sent an update to Mr Careless, who forwards it to his father 
saying: "Fyi Pops.   

"£180,000 cash in bank.   

"£140,000 certain next week.   

"£350,000 probably next week.   

"Feb we go for £1 million revenues and £650,000 net profit."   

So, again, an indicaƟon of a very substanƟal profit margin.   

We see that reflected in the Surge accounts at <MDR00224027>. These are the accounts for the 
period to 31 January 2016. So Surge has only been trading for around -- well, less than half a year, at 
this period. We can see, on page 6, the profit already is £353,870, and that has increased the net 
assets considerably on page 7. They are now £344,970. So, this is the posiƟon on 31 January 2016.   

We can see <SUR00007377-0001>, a reflecƟon of Mr Careless's excitement about earning such large 
commissions.   
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I should menƟon, before we look at this document, maybe we should go to it now, I don't know if my 
Lord has seen it yet, at <A1/12/1> is something that I refer to as the "telephone directory", which has 
been prepared for the purpose of this trial. It tells you, in the leŌ-hand column, the Bates number of 
the document and the family date, the document date, it tells you the document type, whether it is a 
text message or a WhatsApp message, and, most helpfully, it tells you the names of the parƟcipants 
in the call, because, otherwise, you can find yourself looking at a text message and you see that it's 
between a number that doesn't parƟcularly mean anything, it's not immediately recognisable, and 
some other device owner, and you have no idea who is involved in the communicaƟon. So, this has 
been prepared in order to overcome that difficulty. The document that we see eight down is the 
Bates number ending *********, so we can see that that is a conversaƟon between Steve Jones, 
whose number ends 986, and Mr Careless, who is the device owner. If we go to <SUR00007377-
0001>, this is the document we saw a moment ago, my Lord sees at the top "ParƟcipants", the 
number ending 986 is Mr Jones, the device owner is Mr Careless. So, when we read down, the first 
message is from Mr Jones, the second message saying "Okay, cool", is from Mr Careless. On page 2, 
we have quoted this in our opening submissions to show sort of excitement by Mr Careless about 
these high commissions. It relates to the prospect of geƫng a large investment from *********, 
whose daughter ***** was in hospital. Just over halfway down the page, the device owner, Mr 
Careless, says:   

"Oh, by the way, if JRM pulls off that 1m Friday then I'll be buying a 70k car from the comms the 
week aŌer."   

Then he adds:   

"OperaƟon Fuck You Everyone Who Didn't Believe." And Mr Jones likes the sound of that and he 
says: "Sounds like a plan!"   

We see, again and again, the tremendous sense of excitement on the part of Mr Careless about the 
large amounts of money coming into Surge's bank account. There is another document that casts 
light on his state of mind at <SUR00011155-0001>. My Lord can see it is an email that Mr Careless 
sent to himself on 15 March 2016 with the subject "Pitch 2". The aƩachment is "Document 2.docx". 
That's <SUR00011156-0001>. It seems to be a script for a speech that Mr Careless is planning to give 
to employees. We see that from the sort of notes to self that run throughout it:   

"Start with breaking news. EB robbery." Don't know what that means:   

"Before I begin to discuss your plans for the rest of this month, let's take 5 minutes to have an overall 
chat. Let's keep that light hearted.   

"What is the meaning of life?   

"The meaning of life is the meaning you give it. "Fundamentally, most people want happiness as 
defined by them. To get that they want success, it is just that success is defined differently by each 
individual person.   

"Let me tell you mine. I am going to build a £1 billion ... investment company.   

"I will accomplish that if I start today with zero, on my own. Nothing will stop me. If one of or all of 
you leave it won't stop me. If there is a property crash, it won't stop me. I will achieve my goal. That 
is not an average goal. To achieve my goal, I need to ensure that I am not average. It also means I 
need to surround myself with people who are also not average. "Let me briefly explain average. No-
one here sees themselves as average. But simple maths means some of us must be. We can't all be 
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above average, can we? As the main star in your own film as life you see yourself as above average, 
the hero in your own movie. I mean who wants to be mediocre, run of the mill? We all want more 
success as that breeds happiness. Most people get around being average by hanging out with people 
of the same peer group, social status, financial standing. Hanging out with people with more than 
you if you have a small mind-set will make you feel average and you wouldn't want to feel that."   

Then there seems to be a note to self:   

"Street kids story here.   

"I am not going to be average and if you come with me you won't be either. Let me tell you why. 
Because if you are I will cut you loose. You will go on your own journey. This goes for anyone in this 
room. Do not get comfortable around me. There is no-one here I will not remove from my mission if I 
feel they either don't have the fight anymore or are becoming comfortable. "The hungry hunter 
fights best. This is for most people. It is why the rich are never saƟsfied no maƩer how much they 
have but the poor tend to just accept their lot. Are you a predator or a prey? Be advised if you are in 
this room and you are with me, you are in my pack and you are a fucking predator. But if you are 
weak or slow me down, I will cut you loose. "Remember that. It is important.   

"However, guys, if you trust my judgment, believe in my big goals and move at the pace I set, I will 
provide you with a strong purpose, a meaning. This will lead to ongoing happiness. A product of this 
... you will also get rich.   

"Let's quickly talk about happiness.   

"Happiness is fleeƟng. It comes and it goes, someƟmes it is momentarily. But to cross its path more 
than most one should create purpose. That is a universal rule of life.   

"Purpose will create happiness. The bigger your purpose, the more fulfilled you will feel. The smaller 
things in life, the gossip, the arguments, the what's for dinner, your broken fridge, your toothache, 
having to move house will become no big deal. You will float past these things as you know you are 
desƟned for something greater.   

"Don't sweat the small stuff.   

"I want anyone here to think big. Like me. I think big because I know it provides big goals and huge 
purpose which creates meaning and happiness. "That means seƫng big goals.   

"You know mine.   

"The problem is very few people ... make the sacrifices required to become successful." Then over 
the page:   

"I have fought alongside four people, shoulder by shoulder who now have over £100m. They all had 
big goals that they didn't let small things get in the way of. The internet not working, find a new guy 
and he wasn't up to it they sacked him and moved on, not enough leads, they find more. Conversion 
is bad, change up the process.   

"Life is too short to be liƩle.   

"With me I will harness our collecƟve purpose and I will direct it towards success.   

"Your mind-set to be successful on this journey with me is this:   

"1. You need to believe you can succeed. This is fundamental.   
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"2. Believe in the power of belief, it is more important than mere intelligence. Being smart is nothing 
without belief.   

"3. Never [use] excuses as shields. It was the leads, my back hurts, the trains are fucked. Find a way 
to get your job done.   

"4. Turn problems into opportunity's. This requires number 6.   

"5. Have a bias for acƟon. A good plan executed violently today always trumps a perfect plan planned 
[for] tomorrow. Winners do today what losers chat about.   

"6. Lose the fear and build confidence. Fear of what? Not taking a risk is your only fear. Being 
mediocre."   

Then he says:   

"I expect enthusiasm for this mission from everyone. We are building a £1 billion ... fund and that 
means three things:   

"1. We have a big goal.   

"2. We hire only the best people ...   

"3. We fight for each other and we find a way to hit the goals I set."   

Then he sets out orders for the month. We don't need to look at the detail. Over on the next page 
[page 3], we see how he concludes:   

"We need to begin to move quicker or our growth will stall. Everything is there for the taking, my 
orders are issued, it is Ɵme to execute."   

So, as I say, my Lord, one gets a clear sense of the single-minded determinaƟon of one man to make 
money and to prioriƟse that objecƟve above anything else to ensure that no obstacles stand in his 
way. My Lord, I see the Ɵme. I wonder if that would be a convenient moment for the shorthand 
writer's break?  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. We will take five minutes. Thank you.   

(11.44 am)   

(A short break)   

(11.50 am)   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Mr Robins, I have got an appointment over lunchƟme, which may slightly 
overrun. So, what I was going to suggest is, if we go on unƟl 1.10 pm on this session, and then we will 
start again at about 2.10 pm this aŌernoon. Is that all right with the transcriber and everyone else? 
So if you carry on unƟl about 1.10 pm.   

MR ROBINS: Absolutely. My Lord, we were looking at Mr Careless's state of mind and his 
determinaƟon to make a large amount of money. We see more of the same at <MDR00040644>. This 
is 13 May 2016. At the boƩom of the page, Mr Careless says:   

"Team.   

"In my view, the only risk in life is not taking a risk.   
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"No-one became successful by waiƟng.   

"What you want from life is there for the taking but you have to get up and go and get it. You have to 
make it happen.   

"Everyone who is reading this email I believe in. I believe you have what it takes to be successful or I 
would not have allowed you to stay on this team. "This is a winning team.   

"Our business is growing at a pace rarely seen and we are on the cusp of creaƟng significant value in 
a very big industry.   

"Don't be average. Avoid being average at all costs. If you are average, you will be beƩer working 
somewhere else and I will find you out and you will leave. If you are not 100 per cent commiƩed, or 
you are coasƟng, I will remove you. To be clear, if you are with me, you are not in a job; you are in an 
opportunity. I can assure you that opportuniƟes like this occur very rarely. Don't squander it. Be so 
good that I can't do without you and that you stand out. "Remember that talk is cheap. Winners 
show their worth by their acƟons. I can see who is good and who is great.   

"This team is becoming stronger, more skilled and more moƟvated. I can see the growth mind-set 
emerging and people are becoming biased towards being acƟon oriented. These are the traits of 
great teams. With a team like this, anything is possible. "Have a good day today and make it count." 
This is typical of the sort of moƟvaƟonal email that Mr Careless sends to his sales people to 
encourage them to work hard.   

But, at the same Ɵme, it's obvious that the success of Surge is really due to the extremely high level 
of commissions paid by LCF, and one sees that a few days later, on 16 May, at <SUR00021045-0001>. 
This is an email, we see, about a quarter of the way down the page, from John Russell-Murphy to Mr 
Careless, and Mr Russell-Murphy says:   

"Morning Paul.   

"Thanks for the update, my main focus as always will be to push LCF, this is our cash cow and I won't 
stop unƟl the 4 million target is hit."   

He says he thinks the £4 million target is very achievable. Mr Careless responds at the top of the 
page:   

"I'm with you."   

So there's a sense, we see it in other documents as well, that LCF is the cash cow. We see again Mr 
Careless's excitement in a text message at <SUR00026965-0001>. As the directory we saw confirms, 
the number ending 986 is Mr Jones, the device owner is Mr Careless. On the next page [page 2], Mr 
Careless says:   

"Just had a 23k in."   

Mr Jones says:   

"GCEN now £227.2k. I haven't even had a chance to get a glass of wine yet!"   

Mr Careless says:   

"Not inc JRMs?"   

Mr Jones says:   
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"Correct."   

Mr Careless says:   

"Woah.   

"56k comms.   

"One fucking day."   

Mr Jones says:   

"Not too shabby, eh?", and puts in an emoji. Mr Careless says:   

"Dude we are making a fucking fortune", and the emoji is, I think, a fist.   

"Mr Jones replies:   

"Hell yeah", with a fist emoji.   

Mr Careless says:   

"I don't see any company in this town making anything close to our growth this last 6 months. 
"#fuckyeah.   

"#£500m.   

"#couldn't do it without you."   

Mr Jones replies:   

"That is very true -- all of it", and adds that he's looking forward to the car.   

Mr Careless adds:   

"I always said to you that if you trust me, eventually I'll get is where we need to be. You believed.   

"Whenever you drive that car, always remember belief can change anything."   

So, it's really the 25 per cent commission that is behind this. As my Lord has seen, it is Mr Russell-
Murphy who agreed that with LCF. That's referred to at <SUR00035780-0001>. It is an exchange of 
text messages, and the number ending 3244 is -- let me just go back and check it -- Kerry Graham, as 
she then was. If you go to the telephone directory at <A1/12>, this is <SUR00035780-0001>, which is 
about halfway down the page. Yes, ending 3244 is Kerry Venn, Kerry Graham as she was then. The 
device owner is Paul Careless. If we go back to <SUR00035780-0001>, my Lord sees, on the top of 
the page, Ms Venn's number and Mr Careless as the device owner. On the second page, page 2, Ms 
Venn says:   

"Have you spoken to JRM about it yet?"   

Mr Careless says:   

"I'm leaving for EB c10 am."   

I don't know if that's a reference to Mr Barker.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: It might be "Eastbourne", I should think.  
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MR ROBINS: Oh, "Eastbourne". Ms Venn says: "I believe you are opening a can of worms ... direcƟon 
needs to come from you as leader." She says:   

"If my deal is changing, I would request some heads up so no surprises. I.e. If the starƟng point is PC: 
45% JRM: 45% KG: 10% and we all dilute to let new shareholders in, then there is no surprise to me 
and up for diluƟon so everyone gets looked aŌer. If it's different to what we've always discussed 
please just let me know ahead of Ɵme. Is that ok?"   

Mr Careless says he hates keeping people out of the loop. They conƟnue their discussion. About 
three-quarters of the way down the page, Ms Venn says: "Good luck with JRM. Let me know how 
that goes." And Mr Careless says:   

"I disagree with you. Without JRM we wouldn't be here today. He increased comms to 25 per cent. 
It's the main factor in our current success. Always beƩer to have a smaller slice of a bigger pie." Mr 
Careless recognises the 25 per cent is the main factor in Surge's current success.   

At <MDR00056897>, we see an email from Mr Careless to various members of staff, Mr Russell-
Murphy and Ms Graham are there in the cc field. He says: "Morning.   

"Having seen Jo's email to the AMs yesterday, I am confident August will beat July's numbers. I am 
also confident that with a proper coupon operaƟon September and October will be good months as 
we get new bonds from exisƟng clients. However, despite a strong month so far, we need to 
absolutely guarantee September's numbers are an increase. Month on month growth is an absolute 
topline figure that we must work on growing above everything else."   

He explains how he hopes to achieve that objecƟve. But, again, the emphasis is on increasing the 
amount of bond sales and, therefore, commissions: "Month on month is an absolute topline figure 
that we must work on growing above everything else." That's the priority.   

There is some further discussion of   

Mr Russell-Murphy's posiƟon at <SUR00056072-0001>, this is now in November 2016. We need to 
go to page 3 -- that might be right. Well, we can see at the boƩom of page 2, top of page 3, Mr 
Russell-Murphy sends an invoice as instructed by Paul. Mr Jones replies on the leŌ to Mr Careless:   

"This is a joke, isn't it?"   

And Mr Careless replies:   

"No, need to chip him off due to my 700ker. "I agreed him to be equal when he secured the 25 per 
cent deal.   

"You conƟnually being angry at that situaƟon won't help.   

"Next company won't be like that, but that's the situaƟon here.   

"I did tell him it'd be paid Friday due to pay day." Above that, Mr Jones says:   

"Can't help but be angry about it every Ɵme. It is so unfair. He does absolutely nothing to earn a 
penny of it. He has had the £700,000 already so nothing to chip off really."   

Mr Careless replies:   

"He needs to be the same as me. Your anger doesn't help. Deal with it, I have to."   
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On the previous page, we see Mr Jones says: "I'm sorry, I can't help it. I'm only human. I hate to see 
him just pull our trousers down and take what he doesn't deserve whenever he wants. Your 
£700,000 is a loan, he isn't owed that. At the rate it is going the company won't make a profit to pay 
a dividend from anyway. Stay strong and don't give in to him every Ɵme. You own 90 per cent, 
remember that." On the leŌ, Mr Careless says:   

"He owns the same as me. Technically 90 per cent yes but he owns half. Stop fighƟng it. You just 
annoy yourself and me, it's pointless. If anyone should be hurt it's me. It's the deal we struck. I don't 
renege on deals. I decide if it's a loan or a dividend." Mr Jones says:   

"I hear what you are saying and respect your decision. It can't be a dividend, as the company won't 
make enough profit this year to pay a dividend at that level, it has to be a loan. I really don't enjoy 
feeling the way I do about JRM. If he actually closed the occasional deal, I would feel different. As for 
reneging on deals, as you say the only constant is change. I will send the payment tomorrow once I 
have bank payment headroom and won't say anymore on the maƩer."   

Mr Careless replies, "Deal".   

My Lord can see from that that Mr Russell-Murphy's enƟtlement, in return for securing the 25 per 
cent deal, was to receive equal payment with Mr Careless. Mr Careless refers to the need for them to 
be equal. Mr Jones doesn't like it, but that, says Mr Careless, is the deal he struck.   

We see Surge's financial posiƟon from the subsequent accounts, <MDR00224028>. This is for the 
year ending 31 January 2017. On page 6, my Lord can see the profit figure has increased very 
substanƟally from the previous year. It is now over £2.4 million. On page 7, the net assets are over 
£1.5 million. I think we should also, before turning to the next topic, have a look at <SUR00062966-
0001>, which is an email dated 31 January 2017. That's the day of the end of the financial period that 
we just saw in the accounts. Mr Careless says:   

"Team.   

"A note to the enƟre Surge team to say well done to every single one of you.   

"Today has been our best day on record. "January has been our best month on record. "As a group, 
we broke £1 million in sales in one day.   

"Great business is simply about great people. "Roll on February."   

We see:   

"PS: The day isn't even over yet ...   

"PPS: I expect to break this record several Ɵmes in the next 30 days."   

Mr Russell-Murphy replies:   

"Great figures. The company is going from strength to strength and we are geƫng rich buddy!" And 
then <SUR00065206-0001>. Mr Careless emails various people to say:   

"Team.   

"I have just been informed we hit our third £1 million in a single day between bonds. "We have a new 
office, new lead sources, new AMs lined up, new tech lined up.   

"It's going to get much bigger this year. Momentum is building."   
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And then <MDR00081987>. I think it is on the next page, or the page aŌer. We see Mr Phillips, on the 
right-hand side, sends an update. Mr Careless says: "Feeling beƩer?"   

Mr Phillips says:   

"A liƩle. If it's okay I'm going to work from home~...   

"£7 million hit for the month, amazing Paul ..." Mr Careless says:   

"If you stay at home, ensure you communicate with the team and they are fully aware of what is 
expected of them. I only found out that you were at home late last night. You need to acknowledge it 
is your responsibility and that I hold you accountable to ensure calls are not missed during opening 
hours. No excuses will be tolerated on this moving forward. I am building a £1 billion business and I 
expect absolute professionalism. I pay the best. I expect the best. £7 million was expected in March, 
it was the target I set. We hit our goals not by accident but by planning and execuƟon. Next month 
we hit £8 million." On the previous page, Mr Phillips says he feels a liƩle beƩer. If it is okay, he is 
going to work from home. Have we seen that one? Yes, we have. On the leŌ-hand side, Mr Phillips 
says he's had clear communicaƟon with the teams throughout the day and Mr Careless replies:   

"I'm going to take that as an acknowledgment of your responsibility moving forward. You need to 
understand my determinaƟon to succeed will not allow me to be slowed down."   

He says he will discuss a bonus plan with Mr Phillips on Tuesday. So, again, we see the determinaƟon 
on the part of Mr Careless to succeed, as he puts it. His determinaƟon to succeed will not allow him 
to be slowed down.   

My Lord, the next topic relates to a company called RPDigital. It seems to have been named aŌer Mr 
Careless's friend Mr Ronak Patel, but Mr Jones became a director of that company and got control of 
the bank accounts. We see that from <SUR00129473-0001>, this is on 15 September 2015. Mr Jones 
reports to Mr Careless that he's dealt with various things. The first is: "Liaise with Ronak to ensure I 
have control of RPDigitalServices' bank account -- have tried several Ɵmes to do this online, however 
Barclays' website keeps displaying error message. Spoke to bank and they are sending out a paper 
mandate to be completed. "I will also ask to be added as director of RPD." He adds "Done", so that's 
been done. We see, in due course, the first of those items is also completed and Mr Jones has 
control of the RPDigital bank statement. The sums which are spent on Google ad words, as they are 
called, are paid by RPDigital. That increases the prominence of LCF's website in Google search results 
and puts adverts for LCF at the top of the page when various key words are searched.   

Those sums are paid by RPDigital and Surge provides the money to RPDigital to pay those sums. We 
see that from the RPDigital bank statements. For example, <SUR00009475-0001>. This is from the 
RPDigital bank account with Barclays. Covering the period from 5 December 2015 to 4 January 2016.   

My Lord can see that money out is a series of payments of £500 each to Google. On the second page, 
we see that money comes in from Surge Financial and there's one payment from InfoConnecƟons.   

The payments out, as well as payments to Google, and there's a payment to MicrosoŌ Bing, include a 
payment to Mr Careless of £1,000 for consultancy, another payment to Mr Careless for consultancy 
£5,000 and another payment the next day to Mr Careless, £1,000 for consultancy, and then a lot of 
payments to Google, and then, on the next page [page 3], we see more of the same, payments to 
Google, a payment of £1,100 to Mr Careless for consultancy and then that's all funded by £12,000 
from Surge Financial.   
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Then more payments to Google, and there's a payment of £10,000 to Mr Careless for consultancy. 
That's all funded by money that comes in from InfoConnecƟons and Surge Financial.   

Then the next day, 14 December, £10,000 to Mr Careless for consultancy and a lot of payments of 
£500 each to Google. Maybe let's look at the next page to see if it's more of the same. Yes, more 
payments to Google, £1,000 to Mr Careless for consultancy. Payments come back in. The first is 
£6,000 from Surge, but then there's a rejecƟon of the £10,000 to Mr Careless for consultancy with 
the narraƟve "insufficient funds to make this/other payments". So, the general picture that we see is 
that Surge has to provide RPDigital with a float to ensure that it has enough in its bank account to 
cover the payments going out to Mr Careless and to Google and to MicrosoŌ Bing. We see the same 
again at <SUR00009477-0001>. This is the next month. The payment to Google is now in the region 
of £3,000 or £4,000 a day. We see the payments to Google of £500 each, £6,000 comes in from 
Surge. The next day, more payments to Google. Over the page, more payments to Google and just 
below the middle of the page a series of payments to Mr Careless with the reference "Consultancy", 
another £6,000 comes in from Surge and then more payments are made to Google.   

Let's go forward to page 6. We see the same paƩern. Payments, now £1,000 each, to Google; about a 
quarter of the way down, payments to Mr Careless with the reference "Consultancy" £1,000, £2,500; 
more money in from Surge; more payments out to Google. We see a development of that, again, a 
few months later, at <SUR00047209-0001>. As well as payments to Mr Careless, there are now 
payments to Mr Jones and also to a company called Aston Beckworth, which is owned by Mr Careless 
and Ms Venn. <SUR00047209-0001>. This is now the period 4 June to 4 July 2016. My Lord sees the 
various sums to Google. Then over on the next page, in the second half of the page, there is £5,000 
to Mr Careless with the reference "Consultancy", £5,000 to Ronak Patel with the reference 
"Consultancy", then more sums to Google. The next page, please. This is all Google funded by Surge. 
Over on the next page, please. More to Google. The next page [page 5]. We have got, in the middle 
of the page, aŌer the various payments to Google and one payment to MicrosoŌ Bing, a payment to 
the company that I menƟoned, Aston Beckworth. That's funded by two payments of £12,000 from 
Surge. Then more payments to Google. At the boƩom, another payment to Aston Beckworth. We see 
the paƩern conƟnue. It shiŌs to be payments principally to Aston Beckworth rather than to Mr 
Careless personally, as far as we can see, but those do conƟnue, as do payments to Mr Jones. Let's 
look at <SUR00070674-0001>. We are now into 2017. 4 March to 4 April. Lots of payments to 
Google. Then on the second page, there's a payment just over half the way down the page, £18,000 
to Aston Beckworth, £60,000 comes in from Surge. Then I think there might be another on page 7, 
aŌer lots and lots of payments to Google. Yes, £12,000 to Aston Beckworth. We get an explanaƟon of 
how the RPDigital bank account was operated in an email from Steve Jones at <SUR00080516-0001>. 
It is an email from Steve Jones to Ashleigh Newman-Jones and, my Lord, we have said in our opening 
wriƩen submissions that Ashleigh Newman-Jones is Steve Jones's son. I've, I'm afraid, no idea where 
I got that noƟon from. I don't see anything to contradict it, but I can't immediately find the source of 
that informaƟon either. But I'm not sure it is parƟcularly relevant. We can look into it. He says to 
Ashleigh Newman-Jones with the subject "While I am away":   

"Daily -- need to keep an eye on RPDigital bank account. There is circa £25,000 per day going out of 
the account so I don't like to let the balance drop below £40,000. Top it up with £50,000 (+ VAT) 
invoices from Surge as and when needed. Invoices to be kept in sequenƟal order, see reference on 
last invoice paid from Surge Bank account and conƟnue from there (template aƩached).   

"Top-up funds to Aston Beckworth when drops below £10,000, funds from RPDigital, £10 or £15,000 
plus VAT, again ensure correct invoice number used (from last payment reference) invoice template 
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aƩached." Then he gives the bank log-in details and the PIN. And then explains about invoicing 
Blackmore bonds. As I say, Surge was used just to provide top-up funds to RPDigital to ensure the 
account stayed in credit and RPDigital was then used to pay top-up funds to Aston Beckworth, to 
ensure that that account also remained in credit.   

We see that in operaƟon at <SUR00036741-0001>, where Ashleigh Newman-Jones emails Steve 
Jones at the top of the page to say:   

"Printed off all the invoices.   

"I had to send Paul another £30,000 from RPD yesterday for his car so I topped RPD up with £30,000 
from Surge. I assume that's all I needed to do. "Hope you are having a great holiday, it looks lovely."   

So that covers the posiƟon in respect of RPDigital. It is used to make the payments to Google but it's 
also used as a means of paying out addiƟonal sums to Mr Careless and others.   

The next topic to address is the lack of any wriƩen agreement between LCF and Surge.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Has anyone added up how much was paid to Google?   

MR ROBINS: There is some evidence about that. There is a bit of uncertainty in the evidence. We can 
dig out for your Lordship -- I think it is Ashleigh Newman-Jones calculates a figure which he provides 
to Mr Careless. I think it is, from memory, in the region of £18,000 [sic].   

Mr Careless then provides informaƟon to -- I think it is a PR person who is helping Surge deal with 
the fallout of LCF's collapse and Mr Careless has increased the number to something in the region of 
£26 million. But we can dig out the --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: You said £18,000. Did you mean £18 million?   

MR ROBINS: Did I say £18,000? I'm sorry. I think the first figure given is £18 million, but the figure 
then passed on, I think I might have said, from Mr Careless to the PR person is £26 million. But we 
can dig out the documents and provide your Lordship with the details about that.   

The relevance, ulƟmately, is, of course, a very substanƟal part of money from new bondholders is 
being spent on aƩracƟng further new bondholders at levels of expenditure which are obviously 
enƟrely unsustainable, given LCF's business model or the way it described its business model to the 
public.   

The next topic, as I say, is the lack of any wriƩen document. This includes Mr Thomson's forgery of an 
agreement bearing Ms Venn's signature to deceive PricewaterhouseCoopers. So it is an important 
topic. We start at <EB0006648>. It is an email that we have seen before. At the boƩom of the page, 
Kerry Graham emails Mr Thomson to say that she hopes he is pleased with the website and the 
brochure, and she says:   

"The key pages that customers respond to well and can influence buying are:   

"1) Details of an experienced team add credibility, especially if the team is of a reasonable size which 
helps to create the percepƟon of gravitas and longevity which are reassuring in terms of 'will my 
money be safe'~...   

"2) Customer case studies/tesƟmonials. Reading about how Mr X -- from a real company that they 
can see on the internet -- was able to benefit from finance that the bank refused and it enabled him 
to purchase stock/take advantage of opportuniƟes that resulted in him increasing his turnover by 25 
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per cent, et cetera ... Good success stories really help to sell the bond because investors can see the 
actual need and results."   

Then she says:   

"We need to put an introducer agreement in place between Surge Financial Limited and London 
Capital & Finance Limited, do you have a standard agreement we can review?"   

She chases Mr Thomson about that in the early part of the following month. <D1-0000787>. She 
says: "Good speaking to you today. As discussed, I will now forward you the emails I sent last week, 
some of which have been covered but please do have a read because we sƟll need items such as the 
Buss Murton leƩer and an introducer agreement."   

Mr Thomson then sends her a draŌ agreement. The email is <D1-0000790>. He says:   

"Hi Kerry.   

"Thanks for your emails."   

This is on the same day, 3 August 2015: "I have aƩached a draŌ introducer agreement for your info. 
Let me know what you think." The draŌ agreement is <D1-0000789>. It is based on the agreement 
that was put in place between SAFE and Mr Russell-Murphy. It says at the top:   

"This agreement is made on the [blank] day of [blank] 2015."   

The parƟes are LCF and "Surge ...........". While we are on that, I ask my Lord to note it is London 
Capital & Finance Limited. It is sƟll a limited company at this point. It is defined as "the Principal", 
with a capital P.   

The recitals say:   

"The Principal wishes to issue the Loan Notes [capital L, capital N] to potenƟal lenders and the 
distributor [that's Surge] wishes to introduce potenƟal lenders to the principal. The parƟes intend 
that none of the transacƟons will comprise acƟviƟes which are regulated under the Act."   

Then on the next page, we see the term "Loan Notes" defined:   

"The Loan Notes to be issued by the principals to the lenders."   

On page 3, in clause 4, "Services":   

"The Services [capital S] to be provided by the distributor under this agreement are to introduce to 
the principal individual lenders who wish to lend money to the principal upon the issue of the loan 
notes." There's a schedule on page 12 which sets out the amounts payable for the services. It is: 
"Such fees and charges as may be agreed from Ɵme to Ɵme between the parƟes."   

It is that appendix that seems to be problemaƟc from Ms Graham's perspecƟve. It doesn't specify 
the commission of 25 per cent. She explains that to Mr Careless at <SUR00001883-0001>. She says at 
the top of the page, towards the end of the email: "Re the contract with LCF, the body of the contract 
is fine but Andy is wriƟng an appendix to it which confirms our commission at 25 per cent and I 
should have that today."   

Sure enough, on the same day, Mr Thomson sends a further draŌ to Ms Graham. The email is 
<MDR00016800>. He says:   

"And now with the document aƩached!"   
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The aƩachment is <MDR00016803>. It is in the form that we have seen. What has changed is at page 
12, where appendix A now says:   

"A commission of 25 per cent of funds raised is payable to the distributor when funds are cleared 
into the principal's bank account."   

But the rest of the agreement is the same. As my Lord has seen, it refers to LCF Limited, it refers to 
"Loan Notes", we can see the "Services", if we go back to page 3, which are defined in very brief 
terms as being to introduce to the principal individual lenders who wish to lend money to the 
principal upon the issue of the loan notes.   

Three days later, Ms Graham sends Mr Thomson a signed version of that contract. It is 
<MDR00016952> for the covering email. She says:   

"Hi Andy.   

"I aƩached the signed contract, when you sign would you please scan and send me a copy."   

If we look at the aƩachment, <MDR00016953>, we can see she's filled in the details for Surge and on 
page 11, she has signed it. We see her signature in the middle of the page. It is in the form we have 
seen. If we go back to page 1, my Lord can see London Capital & Finance Limited. In the recital, 
there's the reference to "Loan Notes". On the next page, there's the reference to "Loan Notes". On 
page 3, in clause 4, it's the very short descripƟon of "Services". And on page 12, schedule 1, the 25 
per cent payable to the distributor when funds are cleared into the principal's bank account.   

Ms Graham, as she then was, signed it but Mr Thomson didn't sign it. There is a lot of evidence about 
that. For example, <SUR00002141-0001>. Steve Jones, on 10 September 2015, asks Kerry Graham 
with the subject "LCF contract":   

"Do you have a copy of the Surge agreement with LCF?"   

She replies:   

"AƩached.   

"NB: Andy has not returned a copy to me with his signature as yet. I have chased."   

We see her chasing subsequently at <MDR00017384>. She says:   

"Hi Andy.   

"Have you had a chance to sign this yet please?" That's on 15 September 2015. Then, about a month 
later, <MDR00018729>, 14 October, she chases him again: "Hi Andy.   

"I forgot to menƟon that we need a copy of the completed distributor agreement with your 
signature. Please can you bring with you tomorrow." So, it's sƟll not been signed. We see that again 
at <SUR00006275-0001>, where, on the same day, 14 October 2015 -- <SUR00002675-0001>, Ms 
Graham emails Mr Careless and Mr Russell-Murphy with the subject "Agenda for tomorrow" and she 
says:   

"AƩached is an agenda for our 2 pm with Spencer and Andy. Please let me know if I need to add 
anything to it.   

"It is for internal use only, I will not be sending to them -- there are contenƟous items on it, such as 
the fact that Andy doesn't want to pay us for prinƟng and he sƟll hasn't signed the distributor 
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agreement." The agenda aƩached is <SUR00002676-0001>. It is an agenda for a meeƟng on the next 
day, 15 October. The meeƟng with Spencer Golding and Andrew Thomson. Item number 6, on the 
leŌ, is "Andrew signature on Introducer Agreement":   

"I requested he bring a hard copy today as this is now very overdue and I sent to him originally on 28 
August."   

But Mr Thomson sƟll doesn't sign it. That causes problems for Mr Thomson himself almost a year 
later, when PwC are conducƟng an audit of LCF's accounts. We see the email from PwC at 
<MDR00059484>. PwC, in the boƩom half of the page, Jennifer Hale of PwC in parƟcular, asks for 
various things. She says: "Secondly, in order for us to conclude on the appropriate accounƟng 
treatment in relaƟon to the deferred income, we would appreciate if you could send across the 
contract in relaƟon to Surge Financial. The terms in this contract will be key to enabling us to 
determine how the cost of funds income should be accounted for. Given this is a material balance, 
IAS1 requires disclosure of the accounƟng policy in the accounts."   

Emma, at the top of the page, of LCF's accountants Oliver Clive & Co replies:   

"I will liaise with Andy regarding these." Mr Thomson's reply is <MDR00059741> at page 2. We can 
see he emails on the same day, he emails Jennifer Hale at PwC, copying people at Oliver Clive & Co 
and he says:   

"I have tried calling Jennifer and Jessica numerous Ɵmes today and cannot get a reply. I have also had 
no response to my emails, which is very disappoinƟng. I will aƩend your offices with the original loan 
documents for you to view and also the original agreement with Surge Financial, I have meeƟngs 
with my solicitors Lewis Silkin between 11 and 2, but can aƩend either before or aŌer these Ɵmes. If 
I do not hear from anyone I will aƩend your offices aŌer 2 pm." Jessica from PwC responds at 
<MDR00059770>. She says, in the second paragraph of her email on 28 September:   

"I can meet you at 9 am at our office in More London tomorrow."   

So, this is the 28th. My Lord can see the Ɵme, it is the evening. It is almost 8.55 pm. At 9 am the next 
day, Mr Thomson is going to be aƩending PwC's office in More London to hand over, among other 
things, the signed contract with Surge Financial.   

But, as my Lord has seen, he hasn't signed the version that Kerry signed, and what becomes 
apparent is that he doesn't want to sign that document because he considers it to be out of date. He 
doesn't think it reflects the reality of the posiƟon. He wants to make various changes to it.   

We see that at <MDR00059585>. It is an email from Mr Thomson. My Lord can see it is earlier in the 
day on the 28th. This is 11.39 am. It is to **************************** with the subject "LCAF 
surge agreement.doc". That's also the name of the aƩachment. He doesn't put any text in the email, 
other than to provide a link to a Google file where the agreement can be downloaded. The revised 
agreement that he's prepared is <MDR00059587>. My Lord can see, although he has prepared this 
on 28 September 2016, it sƟll says at the top, "This agreement is made the [blank] day of [blank] 
2015". That hasn't changed. But other things have changed. Now in the "ParƟes" secƟon the first 
party is London Capital & Finance Plc. It's since become a public limited company. And there is a new 
definiƟon that we see on the next page of a new term, "Corporate Bond", which is:   

"The corporate bonds to be issued by the principal to the investors."   
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The definiƟon of "Loan Note" seems to have gone, it's been replaced by "Corporate Bond". Then, on 
page 3, the descripƟon of the "Services" in clause 4 has been expanded. It is now:   

"To introduce to the principal individual investors who wish to invest funds into the principal's 
corporate bond offerings.   

"Provide markeƟng services as required. "To create and maintain the principal's website and online 
markeƟng acƟviƟes.   

"To develop and maintain a cloud-based client management portal including applicaƟon procedures 
and individual investor accounts."   

On page 6, there's a clause, clause 7, headed "Liability", which comes up in the discussion 
subsequently, so I point it out to your Lordship at this point.   

So, Mr Thomson has sent that to Ms Graham. She forwards it to Mr Careless at <SUR00135646-
0001>. She explains to Mr Careless:   

"Andy has asked me to sign a contract between LCF and Surge (aƩached).   

"He wants this signed today because his auditors need it.   

"I promised to review today and if all is well to sign it. I haven't read it yet, I have some urgent things 
to do first, I might not look at unƟl aŌer 4 pm. I will read it later in the aŌernoon and come back to 
you with my comments.   

"Please also review for your own reassurance. This is potenƟally a very sensiƟve issue and we should 
look at how liability will fall before signing. We need to make sure we are not unduly exposed if LCF 
are invesƟgated or if they go bust."   

Mr Careless asks her to share the draŌ agreement with Mr Jones. We see that at <SUR00135648-
0001>. Ms Graham forwards it to Mr Partridge and Mr Jones to say:   

"Paul has asked me to forward this to you for your opinions please."   

Kerry subsequently seems to decide that it's something that should be looked at by a solicitor. We 
see that at <MDR00059706>. She replies to Mr Thomson, copying Mr Careless and Mr Russell-
Murphy: "Hi Andy.   

"Sorry I know you really need this signed ASAP for your audit but I do have to run it by our solicitor. I 
will find out how quickly it can be turned around and get back to you."   

Mr Thomson doesn't seem to be parƟcularly content with Ms Graham's response, so he has a go at 
seeing if he can persuade Mr Careless to sign the agreement. That's at <MDR00059715>. He says:   

"Hi Paul.   

"As discussed please find aƩached the agreement that was agreed but not signed last year, it's fairly 
basic but covers the bases. I have tweeted [I think he means tweaked] one secƟon to add the 
provision of the online support you give us and the dashboard Ashleigh created."   

That seems to be a reference to the services clause. He aƩaches the draŌ agreement. We don't need 
to look at it again because my Lord saw it a moment ago. Kerry emails Mr Careless at 
<MDR00059717>. By this point, it is apparent that she has looked at the document. She says:   

"Hi Paul.   
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"I know you won't have had a chance to read the contract yet so just to give you a heads up, nothing 
too onerous but nevertheless it would be prudent to have our solicitor review. I won't sign unƟl I 
have that confirmaƟon. Andy needs this ASAP so I will get it fast tracked. Let's hope I can get it 
approved by tomorrow."   

Mr Careless says, "That's fine. I'll let him know". Mr Careless then seems to have second thoughts, 
because, at <MDR00059720>, he asks Ms Graham, in the middle of the page:   

"Can we just sign this? It's to help him." In other words, he understands that it is something Mr 
Thomson needs to provide to PwC. Mr Careless wonders whether they can just sign it to help him. 
Ms Graham replies:   

"Sorry, I don't mean to be difficult. I would help him if I could, but I believe the more important issue 
here is to have this reviewed by a solicitor." Mr Careless says, "Yes, that's fine. As I said, I'll let him 
know and we can do tomorrow". Mr Thomson, the next day, seems to be keen to pick a fight with 
PwC. That's at <MDR00059776>. This is very early in the morning. I think we need to see, at the top 
of the page, where he says:   

"I believe you have misunderstood my posiƟon from our last meeƟng when I said I was going back to 
my hotel to download the various documents requested and would provide these the following 
morning. At no Ɵme did I say that I was going to provide original documentaƟon nor did anyone at 
PwC request originals. Indeed, when I received the day 1 audit deliverables request there was no 
menƟon of providing original documentaƟon and no-one has since asked, up unƟl now, for sight 
original documentaƟon.   

"If original documentaƟon had been requested it would of course have been made available", et 
cetera. He finishes, and my Lord will see the Ɵme of this email, it is 6 am, saying:   

"I appreciate all at PwC are trying to get the audit finished and to aid that I will be at your offices with 
the documents requested at 9 am this morning." James from PwC replies at 7.36 am at 
<MDR00059780>: "Apologies if we have been talk at slightly cross-purposes and therefore for the 
subsequent misunderstanding. If you can bring the originals to the office that would be fantasƟc. I 
gather Jess is going to meet you at 9 am."   

As I say, this is 7.36. The difficulty, of course, for Mr Thomson is that his new version of the 
agreement hasn't been signed on behalf of Surge. Ms Graham wants to have it reviewed first by a 
solicitor. It then becomes apparent that obviously Mr Thomson has had to look slightly silly because, 
having told PwC that he would bring the signed contract at 9 am, he has to turn up and tell them that 
he's forgoƩen it. We see that from subsequent documents. There's a communicaƟon the next day, 
<D7D9-0006795>. Mr Thomson sends a WhatsApp message to Ms Graham which she screenshots 
and sends to, I think, Mr Careless. We can see, at the top of the page, in the screenshoƩed message, 
Mr Thomson has said:   

"I really needed it yesterday morning, not having it has created addiƟonal work and has prompted 
PwC looking into us in more detail. We have nothing to hide but this will add more Ɵme to the 
producƟon of ..." And Kerry comments:   

"Now he's being a twat. Don't worry I'm dealing with ..."   

And then we see Mr Thomson's subsequent message: "You have completely missed the point of why 
I needed it, this was the contract we agreed last year, I thought it would be a simple request to 
simply sign it. I needed Surge's support to get the audit concluded and it didn't happen and has had 
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knock-on issues. As you are wanƟng to go down the solicitor route, I will forward your revisions to 
Lewis Silkin who will no doubt advise me that LCF needs a far more robust contract to protect its 
posiƟon especially as the FCA are looking at ..."   

And she replies:   

"I'm not signing a contract that a solicitor hasn't reviewed. Let's get it right first Ɵme." That's on 30 
September. Mr Thomson has another go at trying to persuade Mr Careless, <SUR00135762-0001>. 
On the boƩom of the page, we see Mr Thomson's email to Mr Careless:   

"Hi Paul.   

"I tried to call earlier to talk you through the posiƟon with PwC following my meeƟng with them 
yesterday but I couldn't reach you.   

"Just for your info I've aƩached two documents, the LCAF distribuƟon agreement that was agreed 
last year with Kerry and the LCAF Surge agreement is the same document with a few minor changes 
to reflect the actual posiƟon and that we offer bonds not loan notes. As you can see they are 
pracƟcally idenƟcal, but Kerry has insisted on seeking legal input and wants to change these further. 
As she had agreed the doc last year, I felt it would have been an easy ask to just sign it so I could 
evidence it to PwC, but unfortunately I was wrong and PwC have now requested further info on 
Surge and its conƟnuity plans as it is a material supplier of LCF. This will unfortunately have knock-on 
effects for the audit and has also created the same request for other suppliers and site visit. If Kerry 
had just signed the agreement that she had agreed to last year this could have been easily avoided. 
I've emailed Steve (copied you in) an info request, can I ask if you could chase him to send it over 
sooner rather than later so I can try to move the audit on.   

"On a separate note, when PwC visit (Monday) if we don't have an agreement in place they will put a 
qualificaƟon in the audit regarding the robustness of LCF as a going concern as it does not have an 
agreement in place with a business criƟcal supplier ..." Over on the next page, he asks:   

"Are you able to get this resolved or are we going to have to go down the solicitor route as Kerry has 
already started down this path?"   

On the leŌ-hand side, we can see that Mr Careless forwards it to the group of people recorded in the 
top leŌ: Mr Russell-Murphy and Mr Jones, and he says: "All he has to do is call me."   

Sorry, and to Kerry. It is Kerry who responds: "All he has to do is call me.   

"I will explain why I want the clauses he added in removed and why.   

"I do want further revision re clause 5. Nothing unreasonable.   

"He's really making a meal of this. A quick call would resolve/at least put him in the loop. "Also I'm 
shocked that he would send a contract where the liability re FCA is a big exposure and expect me not 
to get a solicitor to review?!? Sending Wednesday aŌernoon and geƫng a response Friday morning 
is good. He should be thanking us for the fast turnaround. He shouldn't be criƟcising the decision not 
to sign when he hasn't even asked why we won't sign. "We have good reasons and I would love to 
tell him about them if he would answer my calls and not just cancel them and send me abusive text 
messages." Mark Partridge has also been kept in the loop. We see his comment at <SUR00135766-
0001>. He comments on Mr Thomson's email in the middle of the page, he emails Mr Careless and 
comments on Mr Thomson's email: "He just talks out of his arse."   
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It is something, my Lord, we see Ɵme and Ɵme again: the in-house view of Mr Thomson at Surge is 
that Mr Thomson is a liar, and this is just one of a number of examples that prove the point. Mr 
Partridge says: "He just talks out of his arse. The original agreement is fine the other one is 
fundamentally different.   

"If he wants to pay VAT on top of the commission he can sign the new one.   

"Or just re-sign the original agreement if it is so close."   

His reference to "VAT" we might see in some of the subsequent documents is a concern that, by 
changing the descripƟon of "Services" from being merely the making of introducƟons, VAT will be 
payable on the 25 per cent commission, and so Mr Partridge is saying, "If he wants to pay VAT on top 
of the commission, he can sign a new one".   

Mr Careless forwards Mr Partridge's email to Ms Graham, Mr Russell-Murphy and Mr Jones. So they 
can all see what Mark Partridge thinks of Andy Thomson. That is 30 September. A couple of days 
later, on 2 October, <MDR00060092> Kerry Graham emails Mr Thomson, copying Mr Careless and Mr 
Russell-Murphy, with the subject "Signed contract", and she says: "Hi Andy.   

"I aƩach the amended contract for you to review." We will see she's made some changes:   

"All changes are done as tracked changes so you will be able to easily idenƟfy the requested 
variaƟons. "Recognising that this is Ɵme criƟcal, I also aƩached a signed version so you have this in 
place to use at your meeƟng on Monday (assuming you are happy to accept the changes made).   

"I am sure this raises quesƟons which is why I have been keen to speak on the phone to clarify, 
please do call me when you have Ɵme to discuss. The significant changes have been made for the 
benefit of both companies."   

The aƩachment is <MDR00060093>. We might need to open it in naƟve format to see the tracked 
changes. Can we have a go? Thank you. Is this a PDF? I'm sorry, my Lord, we are not going to be able 
to see the tracked changes, for some reason, but I can point them out, if we go back to the version in 
the trial bundle. My Lord can see first the date or year, 2015, at the top hasn't changed. That's the 
same.   

On page 1, parƟes, "(2) Surge Financial Limited", is now the intermediary rather than the distributor. 
On page 2, the definiƟon of "Services" is: "The services specified in clause 5 below to be provided by 
the intermediary for which the principal has accepted responsibility in this agreement." And then on 
the next page, we see the descripƟon of "Services". We are back to a very short descripƟon: 
"Introduce to the principal individual investors who wish to invest funds into the principal's corporate 
bond offerings."   

So that's been changed back.   

Then on page 5 at the boƩom, "ObligaƟons of the principal". That's new:   

"... the principal undertakes and agrees ..." On the next page, 8, "Liability" -- it is now 8. The 
numbering has changed as a result of the inserƟon of addiƟonal merely material. Liability has been 
cut down. Appendix A remains the same. But they are material changes that have been made, not 
purely presentaƟonal.   

That's sent by Ms Venn to Mr Thomson and he forwards it to Alex Lee at Buss Murton, 
<MDR00060232>. This is the 3rd. The subject is, "Hi, please can you call me ASAP re the aƩached". 
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The next day, the 4th, <MDR00060431>, Mr Thomson chases Mr Lee: "Alex, how are you geƫng on 
with the Surge agreement? I'm being pushed by PwC for it." Then <MDR00060610>, the next day, 
the 5th, at the boƩom of page 1, my Lord sees Jessica Miller of PwC emailing Mr Thomson:   

"Hope you are well. Would it be possible for you to arrange for a scan of the Surge Financial contract 
to be emailed to me today/tomorrow, this was the one document that you didn't have when we met 
last week." As I said, it's something Mr Thomson said he would bring with him at 9 am, but obviously 
he couldn't because it hadn't been signed yet on behalf of Surge. Mr Thomson replies at the top of 
the page: "Hi Jess.   

"I completely forgot! I'm out of the office at the moment but I'll try to have a copy scanned over, if 
not I can do it first thing tomorrow morning." Obviously he hasn't forgoƩen; he's been chasing Alex 
Lee about it.   

At <MDR00060631>, Mr Lee replies to Mr Thomson. They have had a meeƟng. He says:   

"Further to our meeƟng today, please find aƩached the Surge agreement. I have accepted the 
changes that we don't find problemaƟc, but have leŌ some in that are problemaƟc. Mainly, it just 
makes it easier to read."   

The aƩachment is <MDR00060632>. The changes are shown in tracked changes in this version. If we 
could just look through each page at a Ɵme, we can see what has changed. There is not much on that 
page. It is the next page, I think. Not much there. What's the next page, please? He's made some 
changes to clause 5, "ObligaƟons of the intermediary". He's made some comments in the margin.   

Then, on the next page, that's a new clause, clause 6. All of that is brand new. "Insurance": "The 
intermediary has and shall maintain professional indemnity insurance with reputable insurers 
lawfully carrying on business in the United Kingdom, in an amount each year of not less than 5 
million pounds for any one occurrence or series of occurrences arising out of one event for a period 
of twelve (12) years aŌer the last date upon which the intermediary carries out the services ...", et 
cetera.   

Is there anything on the next page? It is quite a long clause dealing with insurance. I think that's 
about it.   

Let's just flick through the rest. And the next, please. There are some changes to the "ObligaƟons of 
the principal" clause, and he's made some changes to the "Liability" clause.   

Mr Thomson forwards it to Kerry, <MDR00060633>. He says:   

"I've just received this, I haven't opened the doc yet as am in the car but will have a look when I get 
home. Alex does in his email pose a couple of quesƟons I think we need to address.   

"The immediate issue is I have been able to put off PwC unƟl now but they are expecƟng a doc first 
thing tomorrow, they have completed the accounts but won't release unƟl they have a scan of the 
agreement." And Kerry replies, <MDR00060649>. She says that she has read and made comments:   

"Your solicitor makes helpful revisions; I am sure we can work this out quickly."   

One issue she has, however, relates to the insurance clause. She says:   

"We don't currently have the PI insurance at that level. I will look into it immediately. A 12-year 
policy might not be commercially viable. I hope it is and I will find out ASAP.   
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"Re the quesƟon raised by Alex concerning liability. Possibly these secƟons need rewriƟng from 
scratch as might be easier than amending ..." She makes some further comments. Mr Thomson is 
just acƟng as a post box. He forwards Kerry's email to Alex Lee, <MDR00060666>:   

"Can we talk through the below first thing?" Alex Lee replies, <MDR00060722>:   

"Thanks for your email. I have taken a look at the proposed amendments from Kerry and my 
thoughts follow ..."   

He sets out his thoughts. Mr Thomson forwards that to Kerry, <MDR00060723>:   

"I sent your revised doc to my solicitor and he has come back with the below. I'm on a train at the 
moment but can talk later this aŌernoon if you are free." A few minutes later he emails PwC, 
<MDR00060725>. He says:   

"Sorry not to have sent the Surge doc over some point the fan last night and I had to run off." I think 
there are some words missing:   

"I'm on my way back now and will get it sorted later today."   

PwC reply, <MDR00060730>. They say:   

"That would be great if we can get it today." Alex Lee then provides Mr Thomson with a clean version 
of the markup, that's at <MDR00060815>: "Sorry that took longer than I anƟcipated. AƩached is the 
clean version of what I sent over yesterday."   

That's the aƩachment at <MDR00060816>. If we go through to page -- let's have a look at page 4. 
Page 5, I think. It has the insurance clause in 6, sƟll relaƟng to £5 million for 12 years. Kerry is sƟll 
struggling with that concept. She says at <MDR00060823>:   

"Did you get any more informaƟon re if the PI cover has to be for 12 years aŌer all?"   

Mr Thomson forwards the clean version to her and at <MDR00060851> -- this is on the 6th, at 6.50 
in the evening -- she says:   

"Thank you. I'll review and come back to you. Good news on PI 6 years."   

So Mr Thomson has commented:   

"I have been messaging him over the 12 years and he has confirmed a lesser period that he believes 
would be okay is the term of the contract plus 6 years." So she's happy with that and she says she'll 
review it.   

The very next day, Mr Thomson emails Jessica Miller at PwC, <MDR00060881>. He says:   

"Hi Jess.   

"I finally got back to the office this morning. (it's been an entertaining week!!!) and have scanned in 
the agreement below."   

The document aƩached is <MDR00060883>. My Lord can see the date has been filled in at the top, 3 
August 2015.   

If we look at page 6, my Lord can see clause 6.1 has the insurance wording about insurance "for a 
period of 12 years aŌer the last date upon which the intermediary carries out the services", so it's 
the version that Mr Lee had draŌed previously which Kerry, as we have seen, hadn't agreed.   
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On page 12, however, we see that it carries Mr Thomson's signature and what purports to be Ms 
Venn's signature. It has obviously been backdated. We saw on the first page the date that's been 
added to it, 3 August 2015, yet it contains amendments made by Alex Lee over the previous few 
days, in early October 2016. So it's clearly been backdated. As we will see aŌer the short 
adjournment, as far as Kerry Graham is aware, she hasn't signed anything; what Mr Thomson has 
done is to take her signature off the contract that she signed previously and apply it to this one to 
deceive PwC.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: When did the company become a Plc?  

MR ROBINS: We are looking at schedule 1. 11 November 2015, my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: So, we will come back at 2.10 pm. It may be a couple of minutes aŌer that, but I 
will try to get back by then.   

(1.11 pm)   

(The short adjournment)   

(2.10 pm)   

MR ROBINS: My Lord, before the short adjournment, we saw Mr Lee's amended agreement on 5 
October 2016. He'd added a new clause 6 about insurance with a reference to 12 years. We saw that 
Ms Venn had been uncomfortable with that suggesƟon. On the next day, the 6th, Mr Thomson has 
communicated a possible halfway house with the requirement of insurance for six years. She seemed 
more amenable to that suggesƟon but said that she would need to review the agreement. My Lord 
then saw on the very next day, the 7th, the email that Mr Thomson sent to Jessica Miller at PwC at 
<MDR00060881>. My Lord will see it's Ɵmed at 8.31 am. It might be said that I haven't yet 
eliminated the possibility of Ms Graham going to see Mr Thomson late in the evening on the 6th, or 
very early in the morning on the 7th, to tell him that 12 years in the insurance clause was, in fact, 
acceptable to her, so let me eliminate that possibility now.   

We can do so by looking at <SUR00051295-0001>. This is now three weeks later, on 6 October.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: 26 October.   

MR ROBINS: The 26th, I'm sorry. Mr Thomson says, about two-thirds of the way down the page, this 
is an email to Kerry:   

"On a separate note I haven't heard anything from you on the proposed agreement I sent over a 
couple of weeks ago? Do you have any quesƟons or are you happy to agree it?"   

So he's proceeding on the basis that, so far as she's aware, it hasn't been agreed, it hasn't been 
signed by her. She replies just above:   

"Re the contract, this has been parked for a while to allow our accountant to invesƟgate the VAT 
issue. I will chase for an update. Also we are having to get a similar contract in place re Blackmore 
and are keen to see how our new solicitors approach this issue." Mr Thomson replies:   

"Appreciate you need to speak to your advisers but it's been weeks now and I haven't heard anything 
and we don't have any agreement in place. I was put in an extremely difficult posiƟon with PwC over 
it which had the potenƟal to damage everything, this needs resolving sooner rather than later can 
you please chase your advisers and advise of the urgency."   



Transcript of proceedings made to the court on Day 10 - Tuesday, 5 March 2024 

 
Source: mouseinthecourt.co.uk Page 36 

 

Eventually, about eight months later, at <MDR00092487>, Ms Graham, at the boƩom of the page, 
emails Mr Thomson to say -- this is 30 June 2017: "Dear Andy.   

"Some good news, long overdue but I do now have a services agreement for your review and 
signature. "I have been conscious that we were not able to get this in place before your audit last 
year and have now made sure this is ready well in Ɵme of your next audit."   

He says at the top:   

"Hi Kerry.   

"Thank you for sending an agreement over. I note that it is a completely new agreement so I will have 
to send it to our solicitors at Lewis Silkin to look through."   

It is indeed a new agreement. It has been draŌed by Macfarlanes. It is <MDR00092336>. My Lord will 
see immediately from the formaƫng it is a new agreement. It doesn't look like anything we have 
seen before. It's got the name "Macfarlanes" at the boƩom. Over on the next page, we see the 
contents page. There are 18 clauses. And then there are three schedules: fees, services and 
customer's marks. If we look, for example, at page 5 internal, so page 7 of the PDF, we can see 
"Service provision" in 3: "During the term, the service provider shall provide the services to the 
customer."   

There are "Customer's obligaƟons" and   

"ConfirmaƟons and general obligaƟons". I think the term "Services" is defined at page 3, let's have a 
look at that, maybe page 4. Maybe it is page 5. It is the services set out in schedule 2. So, that's the 
schedule we need to look at. It is towards the end of the document [page 18]. Schedule 2, "Services". 
My Lord can see this is very extensive compared to any version of the descripƟon of services that we 
have seen previously. It menƟons a website, it menƟons at the boƩom "Provision of informaƟon". 
Over on the next page [page 19], it menƟons "ApplicaƟon": "The service provider shall design and 
create an applicaƟon form ..."   

On the next page [page 20], "On-going support" in 7. At 8, it's called "Re-broking". In 8.1: "The 
customer hereby grants the service provider the exclusive right to market, adverƟse and promote 
bonds to investors during the term."   

As my Lord will see, that's a provision that Lewis Silkin have considerable difficulty with. But this is 
the draŌ prepared by Macfarlanes. It's sent, as I say, to Mr Thomson, who sends it on to Graham Reid 
at Lewis Silkin. We see that at <MDR00092489>. This is on the same day -- no, sorry, four days later: 
"Hi Graham.   

"I need to talk through the aƩached, can you give it the once over and give me a buzz when you're 
free." Mr Graham says:   

"Andy.   

"Thanks for this. I'll take a look and call you shortly."   

Mr Reid sets out his views in wriƟng later at <MDR00092873> where he says:   

"Andy.   

"Many thanks for sending this through.   
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"I've now had an opportunity to review having regard to how you operate your business and what 
you are seeking to achieve. In summary, this is not an agreement you can sign not least as you would 
be encouraging and acquiescing in Surge Financial Limited ('Surge') (a party not regulated by the FCA) 
to carry out FCA regulated acƟviƟes (a criminal acƟvity)." He says that the agreement doesn't 
address the points that Mr Thomson requires. Down the page, at (d): "Schedule 2 -- this shows a 
complete misunderstanding of the operaƟons of FCA regulated acƟviƟes."   

So his view is it is not an agreement that can be signed because it is an agreement by which Surge 
would be breaking the law by agreeing to conduct regulated acƟviƟes without regulaƟon.   

Mr Thomson forwards that email to Kerry Graham at <MDR00092875>:   

"Hope you're well, I've received the below from Lewis Silkin, can we discuss tomorrow." And she 
replies at <MDR00098885>. At the boƩom of the page, she says:   

"To save you waiƟng for the post and to give you an electronic copy, please see the services part of 
the contract which we discussed today, aƩached here. "The specific request being: would Lewis Silkin 
review the pages aƩached and do a line by line commentary to highlight any clauses that could 
compromise your regulaƟon, staƟng the specific name of the regulaƟon which is compromised eg 
COBSXX. "Once I have this I can see where your deal breakers are and work on a revised text that 
saƟsfies the needs of both parƟes."   

Mr Thomson just forwards that to Mr Reid. My Lord can see the sƟcking point is around schedule 2. 
On the right-hand side, we can see another email from Ms Graham to Mr Thomson a few weeks 
earlier where she says in the middle, aŌer referring to schedule 2, she says the sƟcking point is going 
to be around the services ie schedule 2:   

"I assume you have scaled this back for regulatory reasons?"   

At <SUR00080533-0001>, Mr Russell-Murphy offers his view. He says:   

"Thanks Kerry.   

"I should of responded earlier but I was travelling. I think we should be harder with Andy on the 
points raised. They need us, we can flourish without them. The contract should be in our favour.   

"Again, Paul and I can discuss this with Spencer on Tuesday and get him to squeeze Andy if required. 
Andy needs to rethink his business posiƟon. We can't let him dictate to us under the banner of Lewis 
Silkin." Mr Careless replies, "Okay". But Kerry has a different view. She says, at <SUR00140352-
0001>: "Hi John.   

"Don't worry, compromises will be fair to us. Nothing commiƩed yet. Apart from the two year and 
three month thing but Paul wanted to accept that for goodwill.   

"Just being nice to get the services review done now which is the most efficient and cost-effecƟve 
way to get this through. I do understand that there might be a genuine concern re regulaƟon and we 
have a genuine concern re VAT exempƟon and the review will show us what we are dealing with. 
AlternaƟve is if you can get Spencer to make him accept the services secƟon as it is but honestly I 
don't think that's fair to Andy if there could be a regulatory problem for him. Or we can get 
Macfarlanes to review the services for regulatory issues but I would be loathed to pay for that when 
this is his proposed amendment to ours."   

Mr Russell-Murphy says:   
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"Ok understand.   

"Are you around on Tuesday? It might be a good idea to bring you into the meeƟng to discuss the 
service review part with SG."   

Ms Graham, as she was at the Ɵme, replies at <SUR00140357-0001> to say, "Yes", she's prepared to 
aƩend a meeƟng with SG to discuss this. Meanwhile, we see some more light shed on the internal 
view at Lewis Silkin at <MDR00092873>, where, on 29 August, Graham Reid emails his colleague, I 
think this must be the next page -- have I got a wrong reference? I think I may have -- I think I have 
the wrong reference. It is <MDR00089817>. Sorry, I misspoke, <MDR00098917>:   

"Owen.   

"Might need your input -- we've discussed before and our view was that much of this was not 
something that the service provider should be doing not least as they are not regulated. I'm speaking 
with Andy shortly." Then <MDR00098957>. Kerry, at the top of the page, emails Andy to say:   

"I am conscious that Paul has requested we sign the contract before you meet on Friday. Can you 
confirm if you have received a reply from Lewis Silkin yet so that I can get it turned around at my 
end?"   

Mr Thomson says he's been waiƟng for Lewis Silkin because Graham has been on holiday. We don't 
need to look at that. But, for the transcript, it's <MDR00098967>.   

Mr Reid's substanƟve response is <MDR00099003>, where he says:   

"Andy.   

"Many thanks for sending this through.   

Unfortunately it is not a quesƟon of reviewing the document and saying on a line by line basis why 
this may or may not impact your regulaƟon -- in very simple terms if you are involved in any 
regulated acƟvity (certainly of which you are aware) that can only be carried on by a regulated 
person you are potenƟally in breach of your regulated status if that is not carried on by a regulated 
person. As draŌed the document indicates that the service provider anƟcipates carrying out 
regulated acƟviƟes while not regulated (a criminal offence) -- for example, clause 8.1."   

That's clause 8.1 in schedule 2, which my Lord saw: "The customer hereby grants the service provider 
the exclusive right to market, adverƟse and promote bonds to investors during the term."   

He says:   

"I'd suggest that we speak with their lawyers in order to amend the document in a way that is 
compliant for all parƟes -- this is a complex area of law which in many circumstances (frustraƟng 
though it may be) only allows things to be done in certain ways." My Lord, that is the impasse which 
is ulƟmately never bridged. There is never any signed contract between Surge Financial Limited and 
LCF. InteresƟngly, and we may come to this in due course, Surge appoints a compliance specialist 
called Thistle to review their acƟviƟes. Thistle's conclusion is also that Surge is carrying out certain 
unregulated acƟviƟes and thereby commiƫng a criminal offence but, as I say, that's not a maƩer that 
we need to get into now.   

Instead, having dealt with the lack of any wriƩen agreement, I propose to deal with another topic. It 
is a fairly broad topic. To describe it compendiously, the quesƟons are essenƟally: what did Mr 
Careless and those around him think about LCF, Mr Thomson, Mr Golding and others; what did Mr 
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Careless and those around him know; what suspicions did they have; what enquiries did they make; 
and, to the extent they made any enquiries, were they real enquiries that were designed and 
intended to get to the truth of the maƩer or was it a quesƟon of going through the moƟons and 
Ɵcking boxes to create the impression that the right quesƟons had been asked? That's the topic we 
need to turn to now. My Lord has already seen some of the relevant documents from the very 
beginning. We looked at one, I think, earlier today, <SUR00001422-0001>. It is not an email we 
looked at today. We have seen it on another occasion. 16 July 2015, very near the beginning of 
Surge's involvement. Ms Graham is asking Mr Russell-Murphy for informaƟon, including, in 2, she 
says she's trying to build a picture of the success/selling points of the business and always likes to 
lead with facts and figures. She wanted to know how many loans to date, how many defaults, type of 
loan, ie for what purpose, average term, interest rate, size of companies borrowing. And, at 5, case 
studies and tesƟmonials:   

"A paragraph or two with a success story, ie the company was in great need, the bank wouldn't lend, 
the process with SAFE was very easy, it enabled us to buy more stock/expand our premises and now 
we have gone from strength to strength, in fact we have increased our turnover by 25 per cent in the 
nine months since the loan ... Statement of Mr D Smith MD of ..." One can understand why, from a 
sales perspecƟve, Ms Graham would want this informaƟon for sales purposes. As she explains in the 
email, she wants this for markeƟng. That's the subject of the email. What we see in due course is 
that Mr Thomson is not willing to provide the sort of informaƟon that is repeatedly sought from him. 
He is not willing to provide case studies or tesƟmonials, he is not prepared to reveal anything about 
the borrowing companies, he is not prepared for informaƟon about the borrowing companies to be 
communicated to the public. So, that's 16 July 2015.   

That's not the email we saw today. I think the email we saw earlier today is <EB0006648>. Where, a 
couple of weeks later, on 29 July 2015, top of the next page, at (2), now in an email to Mr Thomson, 
Ms Graham is saying she wants:   

"Customer case studies/tesƟmonials. Reading about how Mr X -- from a real company that they can 
see on the internet -- was able to benefit from finance that the bank refused and it enabled him to 
purchase stock/take advantage of opportuniƟes that resulted in him increasing his turnover by 25 
per cent, etc ... Good success stories really help to sell the bond because investors can see the actual 
need and results." So she's asking Mr Thomson for this informaƟon, explaining that this will help 
Surge employees to sell the bond. One would expect an honest businessman in the posiƟon of Mr 
Thomson to be extremely keen to provide the informaƟon to enable the bonds to be sold. As I 
menƟoned, it is really quite extraordinary what lengths Mr Thomson goes to to adamantly refuse to 
provide the informaƟon that is sought. A lack of informaƟon about LCF does seem to be a concern 
among LCF's salespeople, Surge's employees, at an early stage. This is, as I said, 29 July. If we go 
forward a couple of months to 23 September 2015, at <SUR00002372-0001>, we can see an email 
from ************************************. He was a salesperson working for The Investment 
Experts at the Ɵme. He emails it to Mr Russell-Murphy and Mr Careless. He copies Ms Graham. He 
says: "Dear John.   

"I had a call from a client invesƟng in LCF this morning which has made me begin to quesƟon the 
integrity of this investment.   

"The client carried out a few checks as he was worried about invesƟng money with organisaƟons he 
had not heard of and had limited informaƟon about. "The number on LCF website was rang and 
answered by a woman who answered 'Good morning', she then was asked if this was London Capital 
& Finance and she said yes. "The long and the short of it is I reassured the investor I would not have 
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any part in a scam that was taking people's hard earned money. I also explained we were all 
professional organisaƟons and would not risk our reputaƟon by being involved with anything 
underhand. He did menƟon also that we were a new company and that made him uneasy. AŌer our 
call he agreed to invest as he said he had spoken with me many Ɵmes and trusted me.   

"I then called the LCF number from the website and had a similar response from the lady that 
answered. When I asked her if this was LCF she seemed confused but answered yes. When I asked 
her if that was a business centre or LCF offices she said do you want a call centre? When I asked who 
she was employed by she gave a person's name not a company name.   

"I feel totally uneasy about this and the potenƟal issues our company could be faced with if more 
potenƟal investors call this number.   

"John, can I ask you what due diligence you have carried out on LCF? Clearly, we as an organisaƟon 
should have set procedures in place for checking providers and any organisaƟon we sell for or act as 
an intermediary for. UlƟmately, if we are telling potenƟal clients we carry extensive due diligence, 
surely we should not only carry that out but have full supporƟng documentaƟon to substanƟate our 
findings? "In addiƟon, as an organisaƟon we should carry out all of these acƟviƟes at the front end 
before we commence markeƟng and collecƟng money for investors. "Of course I appreciate this may 
all have been done and it is a case that I was not privy to such informaƟon.   

"I would ask that you provide a response as a maƩer of urgency as I have a number of large deals in 
the pipeline from people I have built relaƟonships with and have a duty of care towards. Also I am 
extremely loyal to our company and would not like us to be jeopardising our extreme efforts to build 
a professional, successful organisaƟon."   

My Lord, as far as we can see, no-one has disclosed any response to this email.   

My Lord, I menƟoned earlier Mr Thomson's refusal to provide the case studies. We see that again at 
<EB0006648>, where Kerry Graham, at the boƩom of the page, says:   

"Dear Andy.   

"I hope you are pleased with the website and brochure?"   

On the right, this is the email we saw, she has asked for customer case studies and tesƟmonials. On 
the leŌ, she forwards it to Spencer to say: "As discussed, I have been waiƟng for the case studies for 
some Ɵme."   

We can see that's right, her email below is dated 29 July. She is now emailing Spencer on 13 October: 
"I had a look back through my emails and can see I first requested this on 29 July."   

At the top, we can see Mr Russell-Murphy forwards that to Mr Barker. So, there is sƟll no real-life 
examples, no informaƟon, about LCF's borrowers. Another theme that comes out of the documents 
is the rather robust news expressed by Mr Careless's trusted friend and advisor, Mark Partridge. My 
Lord has seen already his comments about the commission: "As you say, this commission is insane. 
On a flat rate, the fund would have to grow by 55 per cent in 2 years to pay your commission and 
interest. "Who are LCF, is this the aim stock?   

"You 'pay' me to be cynical but I can't see how these figures are sustainable."   

That was on 24 July 2015. We don't need to go to it again because my Lord has seen it but, for the 
transcript, that was <SUR00129198-0001>. We see further examples of Mr Partridge's views in a text 
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message. Before we go to the message, let's go to the telephone directory at <A1/12/1>. My Lord 
can see the second entry is <SUR00129710-0001>, which is an exchange between Steve Jones on his 
telephone number ending 986 and Mr Careless on a telephone number ending 289.   

The text exchange is at <SUR00129710-0001>. My Lord can see the exchanges are on 27 October. At 
the boƩom of page 2, my Lord can see that Mr Careless says that he's having a pint with Mark. That's 
at 4.14 pm on the 27th. I think it is on page 4, aŌer quite lot of discussion, about a third of the way 
down the page [page 3], Mr Careless says "Spencer is excited". Then there is some discussion about 
the money, and I think it must be the next page [page 4], in the middle of the page, on the right-hand 
side, Mr Careless reports to Mr Jones:   

"Mark thinks Spencer is Maddoff."   

So, that's another example of the robust, forthright views of Mr Partridge, the trusted friend and 
advisor. He said the commission is insane and unsustainable. Now he's saying Spencer is Maddoff.   

It conƟnues with Mr Careless asking Mr Jones: "Seen John's email? Brave or made up? Or right?" And 
Mr Jones replies, four from the end: "JRM is opƟmisƟc."   

The email from Mr Russell-Murphy to which Mr Careless refers is <SUR00129707-0001>. It is an 
email from Mr Russell-Murphy to Mr Careless, but it is copied to Mr Jones and Ms Graham. It is also 
copied to Mr Barker. He is the final email address in the cc field. It says in the final line:   

"Deals expected to complete this month -- total £959,000."   

So, having communicated Mark Partridge's view that Spencer is Maddoff, they then discuss John's 
email saying that they're expecƟng the best part of £1 million of deals to complete and Mr Jones 
records that JRM is opƟmisƟc.   

There is also, at the outset, a repeated concern expressed about the interest rates offered to 
investors by LCF, which was so far out of line with anything else available in the market as to be truly 
noteworthy, and that's a topic that, understandably, reared its head when the website Best Savings 
Rate --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Can we just go back to those text messages?   

MR ROBINS: <SUR00129710-0001>. We were looking at page 4. I don't know if there is something 
else.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: I just wanted to quickly look at it. Okay. Then there was the next point.   

MR ROBINS: The interest rates were too good to be true, for want of a beƩer term. That's a point 
that raised its head, for obvious reasons, when the site BSR, Best Savings Rate, was being 
constructed. We can see what Ms Graham, as she then was, said about that at <SUR00129471-
0001>, where she explains on 23 September 2015 in an email to Mr Holdaway, Mr Newman-Jones, 
Mr Careless and Mr Jones, the subject "Content for BSR":   

"AƩached is the completed document.   

"NB:   

"1. You will note that LCF is only listed in the 1 year bond opƟon.   

"2. The rate is 2.7 per cent."   
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Well, we know it was actually offering 3.9 per cent but she says the rate is 2.7 per cent:   

"3. The minimum balance is £2,000.   

"Why?   

"1. We currently sell the 2-year bond for 8.5 per cent the average 2-year bond in the comparison 
table offers 2 per cent. I was faced with a dilemma: I could not put 8.5 per cent next to 2 per cent 
and remain credible. I could not offer a 2-year opƟon close to 2 per cent because any client going to 
the LCF website would see that it is being marketed at 8.5 per cent. Therefore we will only offer the 
2-year bond via an assisted sale ..."   

That's on the telephone with a salesperson: "... for 8.5 per cent (business as usual) we will only offer 
a 1-year bond (2.7 per cent) via the handsfree online sale.   

"2 ..."   

That's the second paragraph:   

"... I have proposed a rate of 2.7 per cent to LCF because it is higher than -- but sƟll in line with -- the 
compeƟƟon. 8.5 per cent would stand out like a sore thumb next to 2 per cent.   

"3. Whilst there promoƟonal materials state a minimum deposit of £5,000, their new IM for the 
secƟon 21 states £2,000. I chose to go with £2,000 as it's more open/compeƟƟve."   

So her view, frankly expressed, is that LCF's rate of 8.5 per cent is not credible. They couldn't put it on 
their website next to 2 per cent and remain credible. So she was proposing that it be excluded and 
that they include LCF with only a much lower rate to be in line with compeƟƟon.   

We can see the aƩachment to which she refers at <SUR00129472-0001>. On the first page, it says: 
"Best Savings Rates.   

"1 year fixed savings bonds".   

She has a suggesƟon that "Under the 'security' secƟon for LCF it says 'ADPS'" and "when you click on 
it, this could pop up":   

"Asset backed deposit protecƟon scheme ... "London Capital & Finance provide asset backed lending 
to small and medium enterprise companies. A stringent due diligence process is followed whereby 
loans issued are less than 65 per cent of the value of the security taken", et cetera.   

Then:   

"The security is managed by an independent, FCA registered, Security Trustee ..."   

Over on the next page, we find the table seƫng out the various --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Was the security trustee registered with the FCA?   

MR ROBINS: I think it is meant to be a reference to Mr Sedgwick's company Global Security Trustees. 
But obviously --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Well, that was my quesƟon.  
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MR ROBINS: Yes, it was not a regulated company. So, we can see on this page, these are all one-year 
products. She proposes to include LCF, in the middle of the page, with a rate of 2.7 per cent so that it 
doesn't stand out like a sore thumb. She said 8.5 per cent would stand out like a sore thumb.   

On the next page, we see some more one-year products. At the boƩom, a two-year fixed savings 
bond. Those are over on the next page. My Lord can see that the compeƟtors are offering 2.25 per 
cent, 2.2 per cent, 2.28 per cent, 2.35 per cent, 1.8 per cent, 2.05 per cent, and, over on the next 
page, 1.1 per cent, 1.2 per cent, 2.2 per cent, 2.6 per cent. One can understand why she might say, "I 
could not put 8.5 per cent next to 2 per cent and remain credible". It would, as she said, stand out 
like a sore thumb. LCF's interest rate was not credible. It was obviously too good to be true.   

It was something that she was concerned could impede the conversion of leads. It could actually put 
prospecƟve bondholders off, and she expresses that view at <SUR00003547-0001>. This is where, on 
25 November 2015, Mr Holdaway has provided Mr Newman-Jones with a list for the three-year page 
and my Lord can see the suggested -- well, the three-year rate for LCF is 8 per cent. Then the other 
companies listed have 4.4 per cent, 2.5 per cent, 2.44 per cent, 2.4 per cent, 2.3 per cent. I'm not 
sure if there are any over on the next page, but let's have a look. 2.75 per cent and 3 per cent. On the 
leŌ, Ms Graham comments to Mr Holdaway and Mr Careless, copying Mr Newman-Jones, Mr Jones 
and Manuel Espinoza: "LCF pays a significantly higher interest rate by comparison to these. Could be 
a posiƟve and could be a negaƟve. Will be interesƟng to see." What she seems to be saying is, it's so 
obviously too good to be true, so obviously incredible, and something that stands out like a sore 
thumb, to use her previous language, it could actually put people off, it could be a negaƟve. So she 
wants to see. My Lord saw previously the website The Investment Experts where members of the 
public could submit enquiries which it said would be answered confidenƟally within a short period of 
Ɵme.   

Very swiŌly, members of the public in fairly significant numbers are asking whether LCF, in light of 
the rates on offer, is too good to be true, and we see that, for example, at <SUR00004092-0001>. On 
7 December 2015, someone called ***** F**** has submiƩed an inquiry, it's emailed to Mr 
Careless, Ms Graham, Mr Jones, Mr Newman-Jones, Mr Holdaway, Mr Russell-Murphy, Mr McCreesh 
of Blackmore. ***** F**** asks:   

"How safe is your money in an investment bond such as those offered by London Capital & Finance? 
They are offering 8 per cent per annum on a 3-year fixed rate bond. Are these figures too good to be 
true?" Which is obviously a perƟnent quesƟon. Mr Careless responds:   

"Very interesƟng. Whose is this chap? Was his LCF through BSR, then came in?"   

Mr Careless also sends it to Mark Partridge, that's <SUR00004095-0001>. Presumably, he wants Mr 
Partridge to know that members of the public are asking whether LCF's figures are too good to be 
true.   

There are numerous others. I could spend a lot of Ɵme going through them. But let's just look at a 
few examples. <SUR00004450-0001>. This is an enquiry from a Mr T********:   

"Hello London Capital & Finance are doing a 3-year bond with an 8 per cent interest rate, does this 
seem too good to be true? Is this a reputable company with financial equity in the event of going 
bust, as I wish to invest a large sum. Will my money be safe?" Then <SUR00005114-0001>. This is 7 
January 2016, ******* G***** says:   
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"I am thinking of invesƟng £10,000 with LCF in a protected bond. The interest for one year is 3.9 per 
cent and 6.5 per cent for two years. This seems very high compared with other rates on offer. How 
safe is my investment?"   

It seems that she has read about this on BSR and has entered her details there as well because Mr 
Careless responds to his colleagues at <SUR00005117-0001>: "Bouncing off from BSR.   

"Brilliant!"   

But numerous members of the public are asking the obvious quesƟon: is this too good to be true? As 
I say, this is January. We need to rewind about a month to 8 December. We can see an email 
exchange between Mr Careless and Mr Partridge at <SUR00158416-0001>.  

On page 3, we can see the conversaƟon starts with Mr Careless forwarding to Mr Partridge the 
results that Mr Careless has obtained from an open-source psychometrics test in respect of what are 
described in the screenshot as the "dark triad traits". We can see those are narcissism, 
Machiavellianism and psychopathy. My Lord may be familiar with psychometrics tests. You have to 
answer quesƟons like, "People see me as a natural leader". Mr Careless has scored 92 per cent on 
narcissism, 100 per cent on Machiavellianism and 57 per cent on psychopathy. He forwards that to 
Mr Partridge at the top with the subject "Sociopath". On the previous page, we see the results that 
Mr Partridge has obtained. He's got a much lower score for narcissism, and almost nothing for 
Machiavellianism and psychopathy. On the previous page, we see what Mr Careless says about that. 
He says:   

"InteresƟng and I would have guessed about that for you.   

"Running your own ship for so long will have an effect on your Machiavellianism. It's a necessary evil. 
"I couldn't get hold of Spencer last night but will do today. I have a plan to make the necessity of the 
DD [due diligence] seem more run-of-the-mill and less holly-shit-this-beƩer-not-be-a-Ponzi. I'll 
basically say that as Spencer is looking to revise an offer to be involved exclusively with us in one way 
or another we want to run some DD to make the process easier down the line.   

"Spencer doesn't like geƫng emails. I know, I know.   

"But you will be geƫng an intro email to Andy Thomson later. I would start with a call with him to get 
an overview before you request the evidence you need.   

"Lastly, I don't want Mehdi lawyering up." It seems to be a different topic. He's expressed the 
thought "holy shit this leƩer not be a Ponzi" and he says he wants the necessity of DD to seem more 
run of the mill. It is something we have seen him describe previously as "light touch DD". That's the 
next email two days later, at <SUR00130330-0001>. On the second page, we see on the 10th, if we 
go to page 2, Mr Careless says to Mr Partridge and Mr Russell-Murphy, copying Ms Graham, Mr Jones 
and Mr Russell-Murphy, with the subject "DD":   

"JRM has been construcƟng and selling bonds for a long Ɵme and also has inƟmate knowledge of LCF 
and so if we can begin our DD journey with him and see what is required to saƟsfy ourselves that the 
underlying asset performs efficiently and we can be comfortable that our clients' coupon and our 
fees will be paid. "We need to conduct this DD with a light touch, they are, aŌer all, our commercial 
partners. "Jo also had some quesƟons that clients are asking about the bond which may be a great 
way to iniƟate the process through Andy.   
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"Rather than call it DD, we can call it an 'exercise in understanding' for the benefit of enhancing 
sales." Mr Partridge replies on the same day on the leŌ-hand side:   

"IMHO [in my humble opinion].   

"If they have nothing to hide they shouldn't be concerned about DD.   

"I am happy to grill JRM but in reality Paul I'd be surprised if we got anything meaningful that he has 
not told you already."   

My Lord will note at this point that Mr Partridge has not clicked "Reply all". Mr Russell-Murphy is not 
a recipient of this email. Then he says: "The beƩer news is that LCF have now had to be audited as 
they are a Plc.   

"But for some reason they reported a single month period shortening their year end from March 
2016 to April 2015???   

"The worse news is.   

"All their loan book is lent to Thomson's company! This loan (or some of it not clear) was then shiŌed 
to InternaƟonal Resorts Group a company that Thomson used to be a director for.   

"So it could be that the liabiliƟes now have no assets to back them up.   

"It may all be innocent but it is very convoluted." So, obviously this informaƟon is significant. It 
reveals to Mr Careless that the story being sold about being a lending bank for SMEs is not consistent 
with the reality. All the loan book is lent to Thomson's company.   

My Lord can see what Mr Partridge is referring to. It is at <L1/6/1>. It is LCF's accounts for the period 
ended 30 April 2015. It says in manuscript "Now known as London Capital & Finance Plc". We need 
to go through to see notes 12 and 13. I'm afraid I don't know what page they are on. It is going to be 
aŌer the balance sheet. 12 is "Events aŌer the reporƟng date". It says:   

"AŌer the reporƟng date the loan with One Monday Limited was taken over on 31 July 2015 by 
InternaƟonal Resorts Group Plc. A new extended loan term has been proposed and a new agreement 
is being draŌed."   

And 13, "Related party transacƟons":   

"Other transacƟons with related parƟes. "During the period the company entered into the following 
transacƟons with related parƟes ..." It sets out a table. Then below that, it says: "During the period 
the company advanced loans of £20,000 (year ended March '15 £513,500) to Sanctuary InternaƟonal 
PCC Limited who are the parent company of One Monday Limited. A company connected by 
common directorship -- MA Thomson. One Monday Limited drew down these amounts.   

"There was total interest receivable during the period from Sanctuary InternaƟonal PCC Limited of 
£14,072 ... relaƟng to loans drawn down by One Monday Limited.   

"Included in debtors at the period end was £1,251,396 ... due from Sanctuary InternaƟonal PCC 
Limited."   

So, it's saying that, of the debtors' figure in the balance sheet, that sum of £1.251 million relates to a 
loan that was advanced to Sanctuary InternaƟonal PCC Limited.   
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The balance sheet is on page 10, and my Lord can see, in the top of the page, the current assets 
include debtors of £1.252 million. So, there's a slight variance. It's not quite, as Mr Partridge put it, 
"All their loan book is lent to Thomson's company", it is almost all of their loan book. I haven't done 
the calculaƟon, but it is going to be something like 99.99 per cent. As my Lord saw a moment ago, Mr 
Partridge drew that to Mr Careless's aƩenƟon on 10 December 2015.   

My Lord saw the reference to "light touch DD" and how Mr Careless wanted to describe it as an 
exercise in understanding for the benefit of enhancing sales. We see them using that sort of language 
on the same day at <SUR00004241-0001>. In the middle of the page, Mr Careless emails Mr 
Thomson, who is the LCAF email address, copied to Mr Partridge and Mr Russell-Murphy with the 
subject "LCF understanding" and says: "Hi Andy.   

"We want to beƩer understand how LCF operates to assist in both our sales and also from a 
commercial prospect. As it is way above my pay grade and JRM is snowed under I have asked Mark 
Partridge, our accountant, to liaise directly with you. We anƟcipate at least £50 million into LCF 
bonds over the next 12 months and it would be helpful for us to ensure we know how the underlying 
assets work in more detail. "Can I leave Mark in your capable hands to provide him with those details 
please."   

He's copied in Mark Partridge. Mark responds three days later, <SUR00130384-0001> to say -- about 
a quarter of the way down the page, he emails Mr Careless to say: "Missed this on Thursday."   

And Mr Careless replies to Mr Partridge: "Give him a nudge then first thing tomorrow for me please 
buddy."   

No-one has disclosed any communicaƟon from Mr Partridge to Mr Thomson during the subsequent 
week. We haven't been able to see any quesƟons from Mr Partridge to Mr Thomson or any response 
from Mr Thomson to Mr Partridge at this point, although obviously we will see some further 
communicaƟons in due course.   

Before that, I need to deal with the problem that was posed for Surge's sales operaƟon by the lack of 
any real informaƟon about LCF's borrowers. Obviously, the salespeople are trying to sell LCF's bonds 
to members of the public, telling them about LCF being a lending bank for SMEs and scouring the 
SME sector, and people ask the fairly obvious quesƟon, "Can you give me the names of a few of the 
borrowers? I'd like to understand what sort of companies you'd be lending my money to". But 
Surge's salespeople haven't been given that informaƟon. Mr Thomson has failed or refused to 
provide it, and so the answer has to be given to members of the public, "I'm sorry, no, we can't tell 
you that". We see an example from the middle of December 2015 at <SUR00130462-0001>. This is 
during the period when Ms Graham is acƟng as one of the salespeople speaking to members of the 
public by telephone.   

On the next page [page 2], we see Ms Graham's email to Mr B********, 8 December, to say:   

"Dear *******.   

"I write further to our conversaƟon today. This email is a liƩle lengthy, but I know you are keen to 
understand the security that is in place and therefore I have wriƩen a descripƟon here to help inform 
you. I aƩach a brochure ...   

"Regulated products such as ISAs, etc, are covered by the Financial Services CompensaƟon Scheme. 
Whilst this is very good, the regulated products that the FSCS cover are currently offering very low 
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rates of interest. It is also important to note that the FSCS does not cover poor performance of an 
investment. It covers you for bad advice and also if the investment company goes out of business.   

"Low interest rates over the past 7 years have led to the rise of the alternaƟve investment markets. 
These types of investment offer a real alternaƟve to the low rates. There are many good investments 
on the market but many bad ones too. It is very important to place an emphasis on fund security 
whilst considering these types of investments because they are not covered by the FSCS. The two 
quesƟons that any investor must ask themselves are (1) how secure are my funds? And (2) when do I 
get my money back?   

"London Capital & Finance Plc is a financial insƟtuƟon that lends finance to commercial businesses, 
all monies lent are organised on a secured basis and LC&F has an experienced team to assess all 
applicaƟons. The LC&F bond offers the chance for investors to take advantage of this growing market 
in a safe and secure way."   

She sets out the benefits which include asset-backed, administered by Buss Murton law, experienced 
board of directors:   

"100 per cent of your capital is invested with no administraƟon or setup fees."   

Under "Capital Security" she says:   

"All funds are handled by Buss Murton law LLP ... "All funds in the bond are asset backed. The assets 
are land and property. In addiƟon to that, borrowers of funds from LC&F have to provide their own 
security. LC&F will only lend a borrower a maximum of 75 per cent against an asset.", and so on.   

On the leŌ, we can see the end of response from Mr B********. We need to go back a page to see 
the beginning of his email. He says:   

"Kerry, many thanks for your message below ... [your] brochure. I have been discussing the offer with 
a daughter-in-law who used to be in private equity. "I note that your current bond (at 8.5 per cent) 
has a total value of £3 million and has been on offer since September 2013. Am I correct in thinking 
that you were reluctant to tell me how many borrowers you have on your books? Depending on the 
number depends the risk (if you have 10 borrowers and one goes bust that, could be serious; if you 
have a hundred and one goes under it is unlikely to be serious). So I am keen to understand the 
extent of your customer list. If you cannot tell me the precise number can you tell me how much you 
have lent in total and what is the average sum per contract? I can then get an idea of exposure to 
risk." She replies above that:   

"Dear *******.   

"I hope you found the investment memorandum to be interesƟng? However, the informaƟon that 
you were hoping to receive regarding the number of borrowing companies is not forthcoming. I 
apologise but the company feel that this is commercially sensiƟve informaƟon and are not willing to 
disclose. I understand that this informaƟon was key to your evaluaƟon of the opportunity hence I will 
now leave the ball in your court."   

He replies:   

"What about telling me how much in total you have lent and what is the average sum per contract?" 
Ms Graham tells Mr Russell-Murphy that ******* is sƟll pushing for more:   
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"Any ideas about how to respond to this one?" So, as I say, a rather extraordinary situaƟon where 
LCF salespeople, who are employees of Surge, including Ms Graham, are trying to sell these bonds to 
members of the public but don't know the most basic informaƟon about LCF's loan book because Mr 
Thomson has refused to provide it.   

My Lord, I see the Ɵme. I wonder if that might be a convenient moment for the shorthand writer's 
break?  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Five minutes, thank you. (3.11 pm)   

(A short break)   

(3.18 pm)   

MR ROBINS: Before the shorthand writer's break, I was showing your Lordship that, by 16 December 
2015, in circumstances where LCF had been trading for the best part of three years and where Surge 
has been selling LCF bonds for a number of months, Mr Thomson has sƟll not provided any 
informaƟon about LCF's borrower book. The only thing that Mr Careless knows about it is what Mr 
Partridge has told him: all their loan book is lent to Thomson's company.   

The first Ɵme we see Mr Thomson providing informaƟon is at <SUR00005410-0001>. On the same 
day, the 16th. <SUR00004510-0001>. That's what I should have said. Apologies if I said something 
else. On the next page, we see, prompted by the quesƟons from a bondholder called Mr H*****, on 
the right-hand side, in the middle, Ms Graham emails Mr Thomson to say: "Hi Andy.   

"How would you like us to answer this quesƟon: 'what is the size of funds under management 
currently?' "Another quesƟon regularly asked is: 'How many borrowing companies are there at this 
Ɵme and what is the average loan size please?'"   

Mr Thomson replies on the leŌ:   

"Hi Kerry.   

"The first is easy to answer.   

"To date the company has circa £5 million under management (everyone has to start from 
somewhere and this is why we are offering market leading rates as we are relaƟvely young) and have 
just secured regulatory approval for a further £125 million.   

"The second is a liƩle more complicated as we put together larger funding lines which are cash flow 
dependent, ie we have secured an immediate placing for the funds we raise thus ensuring the funds 
are used from day 1. Doing this eliminates the coupon risk (the risk that we may not be able to 
service the bond if we haven't managed to find sufficient lending opportuniƟes) for the investor. 
Currently we have in place funding lines for an addiƟonal £10 million split over five companies. We 
have pipeline for much more but it's not worth progressing these unƟl the funding increases as we 
already have a home for the level of funds coming through.   

"I hope the above assists your understanding but certainly the second should not be communicated 
as it is sensiƟve info. When we are certain of the funding we will increase the volume and quantum 
of loans in order to reduce the risk to the investors. I'm happy to talk through in more detail if you 
think it would help." Ms Graham forwards that to Mr Careless and Mr Partridge, saying:   

"See Andy's comments regarding the £10 million over five borrowing companies. I'm interested to 
know if all five are ulƟmately under the same/connected ownership." That is, as she says, an interest 
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quesƟon; one might say an obvious quesƟon, certainly an important quesƟon. It is significant that 
neither she nor Mr Careless nor Mr Partridge think is appropriate to ask Mr Thomson. Instead, there 
is conƟnued recogniƟon among the Surge personnel that quesƟons about LCF's lending book are an 
extremely sensiƟve topic and that members of the public should be steered away from asking such 
quesƟons. We see that, for example, a few days later at <MDR00025395>, where, on 22 December 
2015, Ms Graham emails Mr Thomson to say:   

"Generally, I have been trying to steer customers away from quesƟons about our lending book. 
However, one parƟcular chap is very persistent and wants me to answer the following quesƟon, can 
you please suggest a reply that you are comfortable with:   

"'What about telling me how much in total you have lent and what is the average sum per 
contract?'" Mr Thomson replies to say:   

"Sorry it's taken all day to get to this, let me have a think and I'll email you something in the 
morning."   

He doesn't send her anything. We can see that from <MDR00025747>, where, on 4 January, the next 
year, Ms Graham emails him to say:   

"I hope you had a lovely break. Any answer on this email please?"   

So the posiƟon remains that there's no real informaƟon. There's a suspicion the five borrowers may 
be connected. But a recogniƟon of the sensiƟvity. Another topic that becomes relevant at around the 
same Ɵme relates to the suggesƟon that LCF will be bolstered by the addiƟon of security to its 
balance sheet to overcome what are described as objecƟons from members of the public and to 
increase conversions. We can pick that up at -- I think let's start with <MDR00025611>. I'm not sure 
what it is, I'm afraid, but I've wriƩen it down here, so it's relevant. This is an email from Mr Careless 
on 28 December 2015. He puts down his thoughts on "our plan moving ahead into the new year and 
a liƩle beyond". He says:   

"We had a great end to 2015, breaking £1 million into LCF in just 18 days (including two weekends!), 
which, as John rightly pointed out to me, is a fantasƟc milestone in its own right.   

"There are three components to make our business work to a scale the size of a Wellesley size 
business (£200 million + turnover/£50 million EBITDA), valued at well north of £500 million. We are 
not trying to emulate them per se but we do share the same customers, folks looking for beƩer 
return on their savings. There is no difference between us and Wellesley apart from they've a five-
year head start. We will be at their size in under half that Ɵme as our route to the summit is quicker 
and our people are beƩer."   

We says:   

"We require three elements to scale to that size: "1. The lead machine.   

"2. The sales machine.   

"3. The products."   

AŌer that, he says:   

"There is a fourth element ... it is the most important ingredient by far. It's the team. "Why do teams 
succeed and fail? The answer is simple. A team succeeds and fails because of its people and the 
clarity of their collecƟve purpose. Mostly, we have the right people in place, there are some who may 
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not make it all the way on this journey and there will be others who will be there who we haven't 
met yet. I expect the best from everyone who fights with me. I will not seƩle for less. We have given 
leeway, in January that stops. We won't be carrying people who don't perform in January. I want us 
to win and that means accepƟng only the best people on board. As a team I expect us to embrace 
the changes that will transpire and use them to forge our self-confidence. Nothing will stop us.   

"Enough of that. Onto the baƩle plan for January." Over on the next page, he sets out various points 
in relaƟon to BSR, TIE and pensions, and a lot of bullet points. Over on the next page [page 4], we see 
what he says. Right at the end of the email, it is a very long email, he says:   

"There will be an all hands meeƟng in Eastbourne at 11 am on Monday ... Please ensure everyone is 
there." Then, at the end, the PPS is:   

"JRM -- can you text me and let me know about the lunch with Spencer tomorrow please."   

Mr Partridge reads that, clearly very carefully, all the way to the end, because he says, at 
<SUR00004668-0001>:   

"So. InteresƟng. The speed you are moving at, the roadmap by Jan 31st is the drop dead date, earlier 
is preferable.   

"DD is obviously very important here in my eyes anyway."   

Then he asks some quesƟons about Wellesley and Blackmore. Then it says:   

"So you are seeing Spencer tomorrow. Do you want me there or is it a three wise monkeys meeƟng? 
I would not be offended by the way but at some Ɵme we do have to address this issue."   

Three wise monkeys presumably being see no evil, speak no evil, hear no evil.   

As it turns out, it's not going to be a three wise monkeys' meeƟng. Mr Careless responds at 
<SUR00004672-0001>, and Mr Careless says: "Christmas was okay, always bores me if truth be told, I 
like the cut and thrust, not hanging out at home."   

He then menƟons Wellesley. And then this needs a bit of unpacking. We will see what he's talking 
about from the subsequent emails:   

"He [we will see is a reference to Spencer Golding] has offered £30 million in security, first charge, et 
cetera. Let's take that this month, for starters cover us while we get to grips with the underlying asset 
and how it performs."   

Then, at the final line, he says:   

"Spencer, I am not sure. If he is a no go, maybe we should grab a beer in the aŌernoon?"   

But then there's a subsequent email at   

<SUR00004685-0001>, where, at the boƩom of the page, Mr Careless emails Mr Russell-Murphy, Mr 
Partridge, Ms Graham, Mr Jones and Jo Baldock and says: "Guys.   

"As you know I have been looking in detail at Wellesley.   

"They are less than five years old and turn over £200 million since being on TV in late 2013 when 
their turnover tripled. They offer 7 per cent in a world of 2 per cent and sell the same story as LCF, 
capturing the vacuum leŌ by banks by lending to cash-starved, asset-rich SMEs."   



Transcript of proceedings made to the court on Day 10 - Tuesday, 5 March 2024 

 
Source: mouseinthecourt.co.uk Page 51 

 

The language of selling a story is obviously interesƟng. He gives a link to an arƟcle on the Telegraph 
website and he says:   

"JRM and I are meeƟng with Spencer on Tuesday mid-morning in Crowborough. I intend to bring 
Mark and use this arƟcle as a discussion point that if we had the recently referred to security in 
place, LCF would be in a far stronger place than Wellesley. If you scroll right down and read the 
comments you'll see the obvious concerns we need to address, *************' in parƟcular nails it. 
Having £30 million on the balance sheet would defeat that argument and conversions would 
increase."   

So, as my Lord sees from the last two emails, Mr Golding has offered £30 million in security. He has 
offered to put £30 million on LCF's balance sheet. It's said by Mr Careless that that would defeat an 
argument that members of the public might raise and that conversions would increase. He says:   

"Lastly, I want to remind you all that BSR is our plaƞorm, we own that enƟrely and that can fill any 
bond we choose."   

Above that, Mr Jones has read the arƟcle in the Telegraph. He says:   

"InteresƟng and Ɵmely arƟcle.   

"I am sure they will be sniffing around LCF in no Ɵme at all."   

Mr Careless replies to him:   

"No they won't.   

"Wellesley got spoƩed because it went above the parapet by adverƟsing on TV.   

"They'll stay under the radar for a while yet." "They" seems to be a reference to LCF. He's saying they 
won't be sniffing around LCF. LCF will stay under the radar for a while yet. Your Lordship might think 
that an odd comment to make about a company that Surge was responsible for promoƟng to 
members of the public. Mark Partridge responds on the next day at <SUR00130548-0001>. On page 
2, at the boƩom of page 2, Mr Partridge says:   

"Certainly gives comfort to the proposiƟon." I think he's talking about the idea of puƫng £30 million 
on the balance sheet:   

"SƟll big concern is one type £30 million asset backing this. Wellesley implies a spread of risk as per 
original thought with Spencer.   

"Couldn't see ************* comment."   

So Mr Careless sends him the comment and the comment is set out on the right:   

"Such sloppy and irresponsible journalism. If you bothered to look properly at the savings bond 
offering, you would see that they can basically do whatever they want with the money. The funds 
invested in the savings bond will be used to expand its business and lending capabiliƟes, ie they can 
use the money for television adverts and raising even more money to do basically whatever they like 
with it.   

"How does the FCA allow this stuff? These guys dangerously masquerade around as peer-to-peer 
lenders but all they are in reality is an unregulated fund that offers terrible returns -- parƟcularly 
when you consider that they have only been lending (other people's money) for a few months ... 
next scandal waiƟng to happen."   
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That's the comment which Mr Careless said nails it. He thinks that having £30 million on the balance 
sheet would defeat the argument and that conversions would increase.   

My Lord saw that Mr Partridge had said a big concern was one type £30 million asset backing this. 
We see what type of asset is being envisaged at <MDR00025708>, where Mr Russell-Murphy emails 
Mr Thomson -- this is now 2 January 2016 -- the subject is "New bond". He says: "Dear Andy.   

"I hope you had a good Christmas and happy new year to you!   

"KaƟe sent an email saying you are no longer accepƟng applicaƟons into the old bond, I will noƟfy 
the sales force and finalise the applicaƟons that are in progress.   

"With regards to the new bond, how are you progressing with the 30-million land asset being placed 
into the company? I am organising training with the sales staff on Monday and wanted to let them 
know about this, do I have your permission?"   

So, my Lord can see that the one type of asset, in Mark Partridge's words, is what's described as a 
land asset, a £30 million land asset, that Mr Golding has apparently offered in security and said will 
be placed onto the balance sheet. That's the 30 million on the balance sheet that will defeat the 
argument of ************* to increase conversions.   

As my Lord saw from the previous emails, Mr Careless had said to Mr Partridge, about the 30 million 
in security, "Let's take that this month. For starters, cover us while we get to grips with the 
underlying asset and how it performs."   

Reading between the lines, it seems that Mr Golding has offered to put £30 million on the balance 
sheet, presumably as an alternaƟve to answering any quesƟons in the nature of due diligence.   

We see another reference to the 30 million security at <SUR00004894-0001>. This is now 6 January. 
Kerry emails Mr Careless to say:   

"I am concerned that the targets might not be achieved without the £30 million security because the 
terms of the new bond are not as enƟcing and I foresee a liƩle dip in sales now we have closed series 
2. Do we have a Ɵmeline for the enhanced security?" So, it's not been put in place yet. In the 
meanƟme, we have some more robust, frank views from Mr Partridge. We start with <SUR00158417-
0001>, where, on the 7th, the next day, he emails Mr Careless with the subject "Look what I'm 
playing". There's an aƩachment, a Jpeg, a photo. He says:   

"For DD purposes ..."   

Due diligence purposes. He's playing something, a game. Let's have a look at it. <SUR00158418-
0001>. It's a board game called "Ponzi scheme". Mr Careless replies, at <SUR00158420-0001>, "Ha 
ha ha ha ha", which one can only assume is an example of using dark humour to deal with things that 
make you feel uncomfortable. Mr Partridge, as Mr Careless explains in his witness statement, is a 
frank individual who expresses himself robustly. He's not afraid to say it as he sees it. We see more of 
that at <SUR00130885-0001>. I menƟoned the in-house view, or at least the Mark Partridge view, we 
will see in other documents it is the in-house view, that Mr Thomson is a liar, he is not to be trusted.   

At the next page, we see that Mr Thomson -- well, it is right at the boƩom of the page, 13 January, 
has emailed Mr Russell-Murphy. If we go over to the next page we see what he says. He says:   

"Hi John.   
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"Further to our conversaƟon, I can confirm that all interest paid for the bonds is subject to 
withholding tax at 20 per cent. If an investor believes they should be receiving interest gross this 
needs to be addressed via their tax return."   

This is the point, my Lord, about withholding tax, whether LCF could pay 100 per cent of the interest 
owing to investors and leave the investors to account to HMRC in respect of any tax due, or whether 
LCF had an obligaƟon under the tax legislaƟon to withhold 20 per cent. Mr Thomson is saying that 
the bond is subject to withholding tax at 20 per cent. Mr Partridge receives that. On the previous 
page, we see, first of all, Mr Russell-Murphy sends it to various collecƟve email addresses and, on the 
previous page, it's forwarded to Mark Partridge. Mr Russell-Murphy says:   

"Just to clarify, our bonds will be subject to 20 per cent withholding tax."   

Mr Partridge's response on the boƩom leŌ is: "No fcking shit Sherlock."   

Then he adds:   

"Sorry, a bit rude but really! What happened to BDO and Lewis Silkin's advice?"   

Mr Careless doesn't seem to have been in the loop on this, because he says:   

"What is wrong with this advice? Is it just vanilla/obvious?"   

Mr Partridge explains to Mr Careless, copying Mr Jones:   

"It is completely the opposite of what was stated last week when uƟlising your capital allowance was 
all the rage -- allegedly backed by BDO and Lewis Silkin. Despite my scepƟcism.   

"That's why emails go out giving completely the wrong advice. Because people want to say the things 
punters want to hear rather than reality. "That's the sort of thing that ends up shuƫng the company 
down. Bullshit.   

"You can't believe anything that comes out of Spencer's lot and so JRM's mouth.   

"Diversify ASAP. And consider your sales management."   

The comment "You can't believe anything that comes out of Spencer's lot's mouth" is self-
explanatory. We know who "Spencer's lot" are. He says "and so JRM's mouth". In Mr Partridge's view, 
Mr Russell-Murphy is tainted by the same brush:   

"You can't believe anything that comes out of Spencer's lot and so JRM's mouth."   

He says, "Diversify ASAP" -- by which he seems to mean "Find new customers, don't rely on LCF. 
Diversify ASAP" -- "and consider your sales management". Well, the sales manager was Mr Russell-
Murphy. Mr Partridge seems to be suggesƟng that Mr Careless should terminate his associaƟon with 
Mr Russell-Murphy.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: It may be something which needs to be explored, but the point that seems to be 
being made in that email is actually to do, as far as I can see, with the bit about clients using their 
capital gains tax allowance rather than the withholding tax point.  

MR ROBINS: Well, they are two sides of the same coin. What was being said was that clients could 
use their capital allowance so that LCF didn't have to withhold 20 per cent. I think that's what we see 
in the final paragraph of Mr Russell-Murphy's email. Or is that a separate point? Maybe I have 
misunderstood. But it may be a separate point. But it doesn't detract --  
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MR JUSTICE MILES: I would have thought the 20 per cent is a tax on interest.   

MR ROBINS: Yes.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: And that the bit at the end, where he says, "Andy has also confirmed that their 
legal and accountancy advisors" --   

MR ROBINS: I think my Lord is right.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: They have stated they can't use the capital gains allowance on maturity, and then 
--  

MR ROBINS: Yes.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Anyway, we can all read the email. But it looks as though the bit that Mark 
Partridge is struck by is something about uƟlising the capital allowance.  

MR ROBINS: I think, on reading it now, my Lord is right because the word "also". That doesn't detract 
from the point that Mark Partridge is making about it. He says it's completely the opposite of what 
was stated last week.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: That's the bit he seems to be struck by.  

MR ROBINS: I think that's right. He says: "That's the sort of thing that ends up shuƫng down the 
company. Bullshit."   

The bit I was highlighƟng, I think remains valid although the focus may be slightly different, is the 
wording "You can't believe anything that comes out of Spencer's lots and so JRM's mouth. Diversify 
ASAP and consider your sales management."   

My Lord has seen a picture building of the views expressed by Mr Partridge, and they are all of a 
piece. Another topic that rears its head at this point relates to the absence of a lending page on LCF's 
website, which, as we will see in due course, was a consistent concern amongst prospecƟve 
bondholders who asked essenƟally, "How can you be lending to the SME sector when you don't have 
any lending page on your website, there is no way for prospecƟve borrowers to lodge enquiries 
about loans, there's no informaƟon about the applicaƟon process, we can't see how it is that an SME 
that would be looking to borrow from LCF could actually make a suitable inquiry". The response to 
that is something that we see being addressed at this point. In short, employees of Surge begin to 
put together a lending page, and we will see, when the subject raises its head subsequently, it is 
essenƟally a sales tool. It's designed to increase credibility by making it seem to members of the 
public that there is an obvious channel for prospecƟve borrowers to apply. That's something that 
comes out more clearly in due course, but we need to pick it up iniƟally at this point with 
<MDR00027127>. We can see from the second page that Ryan Holdaway asks Manuel Espinoza, 
copying Mr Careless with the subject "Lending page":   

"Hi Manuel.   

"Please can you send Paul a screenshot of the lending page you designed?"   

And Mr Espinoza replies:   

"Hi Paul.   

"As Ryan requested please find enclosed the LCF businesses lending page screen."   
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So this is not something produced by Mr Thomson or anyone else at LCF, it is produced by Manuel 
Espinoza. Mr Holdaway sends it to Mr Russell-Murphy, saying: "AƩached is the proposed design for 
the LCF landing page."   

I think it should be "lending page" consistent with the subject of the email:   

"Please could you let myself and Manuel if you're happy ..."   

It should say "know if you are happy":   

"... with this or if you have any changes you would like to make.   

"If happy we will send it to Andrew for his opinion."   

On the leŌ, we see Mr Russell-Murphy's comments. He has a couple of pages. He says:   

"The tab to click through to the lending page would look beƩer if it said -- 'business loan' and had 
'apply now' underneath.   

"Once the page is open I don't think you need the line -- apply for a business loan with London 
Capital & Finance -- this should be removed.   

"The opening paragraph should also state -- we offer secured loans up to 75 per cent LTV of your 
property and business assets, all loans are subject to status and our approval process.   

"I think we also need to include the standard risk warning that is quoted by all mortgage lenders -- 
your home is at risk, et cetera."   

And Mr Holdaway says:   

"Thanks for your feedback, John. All great suggesƟons. We shall update these tomorrow and pass 
back again for a quick once over before sending to Andrew, if you don't mind."   

And Mr Russell-Murphy says, "Yes, that's fine." I menƟoned what we see subsequently -- it is not 
something apparent from these emails, but my Lord will see it in due course, is that this isn't about 
aƩracƟng borrowers, it is a sales tool. The descripƟon of LCF's business will be more credible to 
members of the public if there is a lending page on the website.   

We should also look, while we are here, at <MDR00026970>. It is a document from the same day, 
just to put what we are seeing into a wider context. Mr Careless emails 
sales@londoncapitalfinance.co.uk, Ms Graham and tech at infoconnecƟons.co.uk and copies Mr 
Partridge with the subject "Learnings and improvements" and he says:   

"Team.   

"Firstly, let me share some data from week one: "We started aŌer the Christmas break on Monday 
4th but sales actually started on Tuesday 5th. "From Tuesday 5th to yesterday (13th) at 5 pm we had 
closed into GCEN £417,000 (that number is £40,000 higher aŌer 5 pm but they didn't clear when I 
ran my stats). "1. 7 working days = £417,000.   

"2. 29 deals.   

"3. Average deal size -- £14,000.   

"4. Average deals per working day = 4.   
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"It means our current run rate on 22 working days is £1.2 million into LCF from BSR. However, it is 
worth noƟng that is from a standing start with a very new team. That number will improve as we get 
beƩer at lead producƟon, conversion, account managing and this email's purpose is to get big 
improvements done quickly."   

He sets out his views on metrics, that he's going to put in place benchmarks to focus on improving 
number of leads and cost of deals:   

"However, metrics will be focused on number of deals per working day. Our target with our current 
resources is 6, we are currently at 4. Average deal size is currently sat at £14,000. Our next target to 
achieve is £20,000.   

"What we focus on will improve. I understand at coupon day there will be a double down effect but 
right here right now I am only interested in first sales and how to improve them.   

"Our immediate target is 6 deals at £20,000 per working day = £120,000 X 22 days = £2.6 million. "To 
achieve this, we need the following to happen." 1 is:   

"We need tesƟmonials on LCF. Increase trust and fidelity of the product.   

"2. We need the lending page on LCF going live and with it we need to add what a normal company 
we would lend to looks like ie £10 million turnover, looking for £500,000 over six months; company 
has £4 million in company assets for protecƟon of our loan. "3. We need the new BSR look and feel 
launched. "4. We need more people on the About US of LCF with great photos, more like 10 + 
people, not 3." My Lord can see the reference to the lending page is something that begins to crop 
up in a to-do list in relaƟon to improvements that can be made to markeƟng along with tesƟmonials 
and more people on the "About Us" page.   

He conƟnues:   

"5. All LCF account managers will have impeccable LinkedIn profiles approved by me.   

"6. The LCF online provenance is to be gripped. Controlling its own SERP ..."   

Which I think is "search engine results page": "... is a priority.   

"7. The chat box to be improved, with a photo of who they are talking to, bigger, bolder, as discussed. 
"8. Security on the LCF balance sheet to combat the 'you are very new company' objecƟon. Having 
£15 million in assets on the balance sheet is very strong. This then added to scripts and 
understanding by all AMs [account managers].   

"These are big needle movers and need to all be in place within one week. I will issue orders to the 
people who need to make these happen straight aŌer this email."   

So these are needle movers in terms of markeƟng. My Lord sees that the security on the balance 
sheet is menƟoned in the same context as the lending page. The figure that is being given has gone 
down from the £30 million that was menƟoned in a series of emails towards the end of 2015 and 
very early 2016. The figure that is now menƟoned in connecƟon with security on the balance sheet is 
£15 million. So, as I say, that's gone down. We see some further light shed on the posiƟon relaƟng to 
the security that's said to be placed on the balance sheet at <EB0012466> where Mr Careless emails 
Mr Barker, copying Mr Russell-Murphy and Mr Partridge with the subject "Update" and he says:   

"I want to move forward with a number of things. "Firstly, our metrics are below in an email to the 
management and I have cut and pasted it at the boƩom of this email."   
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The email we just saw:   

"Two key statements to save you reading it enƟrely are our current Jan target (just BSR): 'our 
immediate target is 6 deals at £20k per working day ...", et cetera:   

"And the key improvement I need you to help with: 'security on the LCF balance sheet to combat the 
''you are very new company'' objecƟon. Having £15 million in assets on the balance sheet is very 
strong ...'" He says:   

"I need to get the security on the balance sheet as fast as possible. I also need to understand what 
exactly it is, as the account managers will need to explain it to the clients it needs to be simple. It will 
defeat our main objecƟon and increase conversions immediately; therefore, it being added quickly 
will help increase sales."   

Then he goes on to menƟon wanƟng to "explore the opportunity laid out on Tuesday in our offices", 
and we will see what he is talking about. He says: "I have asked Mark who is cc'd to liaise with you 
directly to get the ball rolling. Mark is a shareholder, friend and a chartered accountant and I trust 
him implicitly. If you require us to sign some form of non-disclosure then that is fine. John and I are 
busy dealing with this growth and that is why Mark is conducƟng diligence on our behalf." What we 
will see in due course, my Lord, is that he's referring to the draŌ exclusivity agreement between 
London Group Plc and Mr Careless and Mr Russell-Murphy. We will see that in due course. It seems, 
at this point, that the opportunity has been laid out "on Tuesday in our offices". Mr Careless wants to 
explore it in more detail. That's why he's puƫng Mr Barker in touch with Mark, who, as I menƟoned 
before, he describes as a friend, someone he trusted implicitly.   

He says in the final line that he wants to work out exactly what the opportunity is.   

Mr Barker, it seems, hasn't responded immediately because Mr Careless chases him on the 18th: "Hi 
Elten, what is the update on this, please? In parƟcular, the security on the balance sheet." Mr Barker 
says:   

"Sorry for not geƫng back to you, I went away Friday and Saturday. We are siƫng with Andy and will 
get back to you with a response."   

Four days later, <SUR00005975-0001>, we see, on the same day as the emails we were just looking 
at, just aŌer Mr Careless's email to Mr Barker asking for the update in parƟcular, security on the 
balance sheet, Mr Partridge replies to Mr Careless:   

"As per the literature, LCF lend to 75 per cent of asset value.   

"We should consider this.   

"Per our conversaƟon with LCF, 50 per cent of this asset is liquid. The rest is deferred 'consideraƟon'." 
"ConsideraƟon" being in speech marks:   

"We need to consider whether to stop placing funds at £7.5 million x 75 per cent = £5.625 million or 
£15 million x 75 per cent = £11.25 million." So, not only has the security that is going to be placed on 
the balance sheet reduced from £30 million to £15 million, it's now being said by someone that only 
50 per cent of this asset, or £7.5 million, is liquid, and that the other half is deferred consideraƟon. 
So Mr Partridge is wondering whether they should stop placing funds at 75 per cent of the liquid half 
or at 75 per cent of the enƟre £15 million, including the deferred consideraƟon element as well as 
the liquid half. But my Lord can see that the promise from Mr Golding of puƫng £30 million on the 
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balance sheet to defeat objecƟons has been considerably watered down in the maƩer of weeks. Not 
only has it halved in amount, but now only half of what remains is said to be liquid.   

No-one has sƟll really explained what it is. Then, a few days later, at <MDR00028356>, the subject is 
picked up right at the boƩom of page 1, Mr Careless, on 21 January 2016, emails Mr Barker and Mr 
Thomson, copying Mr Russell-Murphy and Mr Partridge, as well as Ms Graham, he says:   

"Hi Elten, hi Andy.   

"John and I are keen to progress maƩers. "As of yesterday, we have £1.2 million pledged into LCF 
from the first 20 days of the month, £2 million by the end of the month is a genuine possibility. What 
would help us significantly is removing the objecƟon about the company being young and having an 
empty balance sheet. The sooner the security is added the beƩer. Can I ask you to let me know what 
the security will be precisely and when it will be added by in a way in which members of the public 
can see and our team can quote it."   

There is no response to that. We see four days later, on the leŌ, Mr Careless sends a further email on 
the 25th to Mr Barker and Mr Thomson. He says: "I am just following up on my email from Thursday 
to you both."   

He then says in bold text:   

"Can I get a response this morning by email regarding the security which is being added to the 
company please."   

He explains:   

"We are growing very quickly and the quality of the balance sheet needs to be shored up to provide 
comfort for the clients. It remains the largest, most singular objecƟon and hold backs the conversions 
considerably. It requires your urgent aƩenƟon." He sets out details in relaƟon to sales. He says in the 
penulƟmate paragraph:   

"With a running a flywheel (we started Jan 4th from a standing start), a strong and secure balance 
sheet and the changes we are making this week (there are 52 of them) I realisƟcally expect that in 
February we will achieve £4-5 million.   

"At this pace we really need your support with our growth and that means the balance sheet shoring 
up, comms paying as fast as possible and keeping up the communicaƟon, email is fine."   

Mr Thomson replies at <MDR00028358>. We can see, in the middle of the page, he says:   

"Thanks for your email. Unfortunately, I didn't receive your email of Thursday."   

He says he's "travelling this morning and would like to talk through a couple of bits as well as what 
you have raised in your email". And Mr Careless says: "Morning, Andy.   

"Can you do me an email reply to include Kerry, Andy and Mark please with your points so they can 
acƟon them.   

"I am out of office today, back tomorrow." So, Mr Careless is unable, or perhaps unwilling, to speak 
to Mr Thomson by telephone. He wants Mr Thomson to respond in wriƟng.   

In Mr Careless's absence, Mr Thomson decides to speak to Kerry Graham instead. We can see her 
report of that conversaƟon at <SUR00131168-0001>. This is an important email. She emails Mr 
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Careless, Mr Russell-Murphy, Mr Partridge and Mr Jones with the subject "Update on due diligence 
from Andy". She says: "Hi.   

"I have just spoken with Andrew Thomson, we discussed some quite sensiƟve informaƟon which he 
iniƟally didn't want to be communicated by email but has given me permission to relay this 
informaƟon assuming your commitment not to menƟon the details outside of this small group. 
Please don't even menƟon to the sales team yet unƟl we decide how best to communicate the key 
changes we have been asked to introduce.   

"He has not replied to Mark's request for DD because he did not receive the emails.   

"There is no £30 million security. There is a transacƟon taking place with $30 million (yes, dollars) to 
the benefit of LC&F and inter-related companies. However, the only 'asset' which they are able to use 
for the purposes of enhancing LC&F is a loan note for £15 million (yes, sterling) in favour of LC&F. 
They have had it confirmed by their accountants that the loan note can be posiƟoned in the balance 
sheet so that the assets of the company are boosted. The balance sheet currently shows assets of £6 
million, therefore an extra £15 million will take it to £21 million which is sizeable and therefore 
should assist sales but will not be as beneficial as the £30 million charge over property which was 
originally suggested. Andy says this was a miscommunicaƟon by Spencer and it was never an opƟon."   

Then, in the next paragraph, she says:   

"The loan book:   

"Since incepƟon, LC&F (formerly SAFE) has lent £4.2 million.   

"Currently there are 80 loans.   

"The average loan size is £75,000.   

"The largest loan ever was £220,000.   

"Terms range from 3 months bridging finance to 2 years property development finance.   

"Crucially, all 80 loans are to Spencer-related businesses ie they are funding their own operaƟons. "I 
asked about the strategy for when they will open the opportunity to SMEs generally and he pushed 
the quesƟon back to me: 'when can you guarantee a consistent flow of funds? I turned down a £2 
million loan last week because I didn't know if we would get £2 million in this month'.   

"They have had no defaults since incepƟon." Then, my Lord, the paragraphs we have seen previously, 
where Mr Thomson is reported as saying that Spencer doesn't own LCF and Ms Graham expresses 
considerable bafflement in the way she describes her reacƟon to that to the recipients of her email. 
On the next page, aŌer the passage that we have seen before, which ends, "I don't know what to 
believe. Is this a liƩle bit like if I said yes this is my business, nothing to do with Paul, check at 
Companies House. Companies House would just show me but we all know Paul is the visionary and I 
just create systems to acƟon the pracƟcaliƟes."   

She then says:   

"Big issue:   

"The FCA contacted Andy 10 days ago to say that they have received numerous complaints re TIE 
promoƟng LC&F. They have also been forwarded email communicaƟons from TIE staff. They have 
mystery shopped us. In the FCA's opinion, we are misselling. It is not okay to state that bondholders' 
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capital is 100 per cent safe, there are risks and we are no longer allowed to be so categorical in our 
statements. We have been operaƟng in good faith but now Andy has alerted us to requested changes 
we can adapt as necessary.   

"The FCA went on to state that the LC&F website consƟtutes a financial promoƟon in its own right 
and as it was not secƟon 21 approved they could shut it down. He promptly got SenƟent to approve 
it and avoided this. He is now very cauƟous about new content and would like everything to go 
through a veƫng process with SenƟent (via Andy) before release. This makes sense.   

"Andy has had two hour long conversaƟons with the FCA and is now implemenƟng the necessary 
changes which will impact us. By close of business tomorrow, we will have a list of changes to make. 
The FCA will give us unƟl 1 February to implement these changes. He said we will have to show the 
IM earlier in the process and make more of a feature of it.   

"Andy will also write a list of statements that the sales team are using which need to be adjusted, it 
will take him a few days to complete this. It will be around how we communicate the 100 per cent 
safe/secured message."   

My Lord can see there are two bombshells, if I can put it that way, in the email. First, that there is no 
£30 million security and that all 80 loans are to Spencer-related businesses, ie, they are funding their 
own operaƟons; and, secondly, the FCA have told Mr Thomson that TIE, The Investment Experts, 
have been misselling. Two bombshells.   

As far as we can see, Mr Careless responds only to the second. We don't really see any response at 
all to the first. It is quite curious. He reads it, there we are, ignores it. It's the second that grabs his 
aƩenƟon, and he responds to his team at <MDR00028517> to say:   

"Team ..."   

This is the 25th, the same day:   

"Something is coming our way. Leander asking specifically to be removed. Andy Thomson saying the 
FCA were concerned re TIE. The dots are forming a line and we have too much to lose to not take 
acƟon. "Therefore:   

"1. Pause all TIE adverƟsing.   

"2. Pull TIE down, no pages live, have a page saying, 'This site is currently offline' ...  

"3. Johnny moves back to pensions in EB from tomorrow. I have told him, he is cool. Great guy. There 
are plenty of leads and they actually need him.  

"4. Joe Beal didn't turn up today, JRM and I will discuss him tomorrow morning as well as Brad. "It 
could be a compeƟƟon or anyone, even someone who recently leŌ. Some people when they are not 
allowed to play in goal, try and pop the ball. Either way, for now it closes.   

"Lastly. All connecƟons, IP, Limited Companies or people connected with TIE need considering or 
removing from all our other sites. Consider it toxic. "Ashleigh and Ryan this is predominantly for you. 
"Report when completed. These acƟons may not stop what may come but it may help. It can always 
and easily relaunch. Nothing is forever."   

So, as I say, my Lord, there seems to be no response to the bombshell that there is no £30 million 
security and that all 80 loans are to Spencer-related businesses, ie, they are funding their own 
operaƟons; to the contrary, the general tenor of this email is that there are plenty of leads and they 
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are going to carry on selling LCF. The bombshell that is noted and responded to relates to the 
concern about TIE, which Mr Careless says should be considered toxic and taken down. A colleague 
removes -- that he has taken it down. That's <MDR00028519>. Same day. He says: "Hi all, I have 
taken down TIE and have set up info@TIE to be forwarded to tech@info.   

"If you need anything else then please let me know." At <MDR00028535>, Mr Careless says that 
"Kerry is working on any cross-pollinaƟon issues which she will email around in the morning for 
resoluƟon". Then the next day, at <D7D9-0004170>, Mr Careless updates his colleagues -- Ms 
Baldock, Mr Russell-Murphy, Mr Jones and Ms Graham, he copies the email to 
tech@infoconnecƟons.co.uk, and he says: "Morning everyone.   

"As you know I have brought TIE down. It is a pre-empƟve move as I am expecƟng repercussions 
from the FCA regarding some of our dealings with clients. Where we go from here is not decided but 
to head off a potenƟal issue of breaching the grey area of advice with at least one of our analysts is 
papramount. I understand there may be issues with current clients and although the site is down, 
there is an email address on the home page and all email addresses are open. "JRM -- let's talk this 
morning about Joe Beal and Brad and what happens to them.   

"Kerry -- please let me know what cross-pollinaƟon is exisƟng between TIE and other enƟƟes. 
Consider privacy policies, WHois [which, I think, is the internet domain registraƟon], company 
connecƟons, director decisions, et cetera. Based on this report the tech troops will make certain 
changes to keep the spill contained.   

"Joanne -- ensure the TIE phones have just voicemails.   

"Then we wait and see what happens."   

Then at <D7D9-0004175>, my Lord can see that Kerry Graham says:   

"If anyone has TIE referenced on their LinkedIn, please amend."   

It is to be scrubbed from the public record. Then, in view of the Ɵme, I can either break now or we 
can do another three documents. I'm in my Lord's hands.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: I think we might break now, Mr Robins. So, we will resume at 10.30 am 
tomorrow. Thank you. (4.20 pm)   

(The hearing was adjourned to Wednesday, 6 March 2024 at 10.30 am)   
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